
 

IDAHO BROADBAND 
ADVISORY BOARD 

 
 

BRIEFING BOOK  
JUNE 30, 2025 

 

1



 

For additional information, please contact the State’s Office of Broadband Director, Ramón S. Hobdey-Sánchez at 208.287.3153 or ramon.hobdey-
sanchez@commerce.idaho.gov. 

 

 
Idaho Broadband Advisory Board Meeting 

Monday, June 30, 2025 | 10am – 11am MT (or upon adjournment) 
Idaho Capitol Building: WW53 

The meeting can be watched online here. 
 
 Time Topic Presenter Notes 

10am Call to Order/Roll Call Chairman Ricks 
  

 
Approve Meeting Minutes: 
May 14, 2025 
 

Idaho Broadband Advisory 
Board 
 

Action Item 

10:05am 

 
BEAD Program Update 
NTIA 6.6.25 Policy Notice 
 

 
Ramón Hobdey-Sánchez, 
Director, Idaho Office of 
Broadband 
 
 

Action Item 

10:35am Idaho BEAD Scoring Matrix 

 
Ramón Hobdey-Sánchez, 
Director, Idaho Office of 
Broadband 
 
 
 

Action Item 

10:50am Next IBAB Meeting(s) & 
Any New Business  

Idaho Broadband Advisory 
Board & Idaho Office of 
Broadband 

 

 
11am or 
Call of 
the Chair  

 
Adjournment 

 
Chairman Ricks  

2

mailto:ramon.hobdey-sanchez@commerce.idaho.gov
mailto:ramon.hobdey-sanchez@commerce.idaho.gov
https://www.idahoptv.org/shows/idahoinsession/ww53/
https://www.ntia.gov/sites/default/files/2025-06/bead-restructuring-policy-notice.pdf


 

 

 

 
Idaho Broadband Advisory Board Meeting 

Wednesday, August 21, 2024 
Idaho Capitol Building 

Room WW53 and via Zoom 
 

 
 
To view/hear entire meeting A/V, please click LINK.                  
 
Call to order: Chairman Vander Woude called the meeting to order at 9:34 a.m. MDT with a quorum 
present. 
 
Approval of Meeting Minutes December 18, 2024  
     
Motion by: Margie Watson 
To approve meeting minutes. 
All in favor: Motion passes  
 
Board Chair & Vice Chair Selections 
Chairman Vander Woude opened nominations for Board Chair.  

- Senator Ricks nominated himself 
- Margie Watson nominated Rick Belluzzo 

Rick Belluzzo and Senator Ricks spoke about their qualifications for the Board Chair position.  
 
Chairman Ricks was elected as Chairman. 
 
Chairman Ricks opened Vice Chair nominations. 

- Rep. Vander Woude nominated himself. 

Idaho Broadband Advisory Board Members                       Idaho Commerce Staff 
Chairman Rep. John Vander Woude, Idaho 
Legislator 

Ramón Hobdey-Sánchez, State Broadband Program 
Manager      

Vice-Chair Sen. Doug Ricks, Idaho Legislator  Jake Reynolds, Business Development & Operations 
Administrator 

Margie Watson, JC Watson & Company Kim Glineski, State Broadband Project Manager 
Sen. James Ruchti, Idaho Legislator (A) Krista Baker, State Broadband Project Manager 
Sen. Treg Bernt, Idaho Legislator (Z) Alexis Malcomb, Grants Specialist (A) 
Rep. James Holtzclaw, Idaho Legislator (A) Sarah Lawerence, Bespoke GIS Solutions (Z) 
Rep. Brandon Mitchell, Idaho Legislator (Z) Jackie Reader, Bespoke GIS Solutions (Z) 
Andrew Emerson, MH Solutions  Jeremy Collier, Idaho Department of Commerce 
Rick Belluzzo Jamie Hayward, Idaho Department of Commerce 
(Z) denotes via Zoom;  
(A) denotes absent 

3

https://www.idahoptv.org/shows/idahoinsession/archive/


- There being no other candidates, Rep. Vander Woude was elected by unanimous consent.  

 
Idaho Broadband Fund Update 
Krista Baker, Idaho Office of Broadband Project Manager, presented an update on the Idaho State 
Broadband Fund. She updated the board on two major middle mile projects using Idaho Broadband 
Funds, the Port of Lewiston Project, from Moscow to Lewiston and Lewiston to Grangeville, and the 
IIG/IRON Project from Grangeville to Star. 
 
Idaho CPF Update 
Alexis Malcomb, Idaho Commerce Grants and Contracts Specialist, and Idaho Office of Broadband 
Project Managers Krista Baker and Kim Glineski updated the Board on the Capitol Project Fund.   
 
Alexis Malcomb advised members of the Capitol Projects Fund, of $120million, with 18 projects funded 
across Idaho, connecting 35,000 BSLs. She explained the current commitments and commissions of the 
Capitol Project Fund. She noted this information included pending requests, and those with pending 
review. Pending requests total 28.5% of the funds. Projects require a match.  
 
Krista Baker provided specific project details on the MiFiber (Priest River & Oldtown) CPF project;  
the Kaniksu Internet (Sagle & Surrounding Area) project; the Intermax Highway 54, north of Rathdrum, 
project; the Latah County Dark Fiber Network; the two Ziply projects; and the Idaho County project. 
 
Kim Glineski, Idaho Office of Broadband, provided specific project details on the Jermone County project; 
Lincoln County project; Salmon Highway 93 project; Preston & Franklin County project; Camas County 
project; Gooding project; Madison County project; Owyhee County project; and the Taylor Basalt Project.  
 
Idaho BEAD Planning Grant Update 
Krista Baker, Kim Glineski, and Alexis Malcomb updated the Board on the Idaho BEAD Planning Grant. 
Alexis Malcomb gave an overview of the planning grant and advised members on the status of requested 
funds and submitted match.  
 
Ms. Baker gave additional program updates for Clearwater County, Idaho County and Benewah County.  
Ms. Glineski gave additional program updates for Madison County, the City of Greenleaf, City of Ammon 
& Camas, Elmore County, Jerome County, Gooding County & Lincoln County project.  
 
Idaho BEAD Program Update 
Ramón Hobdey-Sánchez presented an update on the Idaho BEAD Program. He noted the finalization of 
the BEAD area project maps and the prequalification application phase. He advised no formal guidance 
had been received from NTIA as it related to potential federal changes. In response to questions from 
Committee Members, RHS advised that the program is designed with a fiber focus and the scoring 
matrix reflects this. 
 
BEAD Application Project Areas 
Jackie Reader, Bespoke GIS Solutions, updated the Board on the BEAD Eligibility Map, explaining the 
user interface and development process to the board. Sarah Lawerence, Bespoke GIS Solutions, 
updated the Board on the project areas building block methodology. 
 
BEAD Prequalification Phase 
Beth Crow, Michael Baker International, presented to the Board regarding the BEAD Prequalification 
Phase. She explained the federally mandated components of the BEAD prequalification & application 

4



process. She reviewed the three core components of the prequalification process: operational capability, 
managerial experience, and financial strength. 
. 
 
BEAD Initial Proposal Vol. II Updates 
Ramón Hobdey-Sánchez presented the updates to the BEAD Initial Proposals Volume II. He reviewed 
the purpose of the updates, and summarized their content. 
 
Motion by: Rick Belluzzo  
To approve updates as presented. 
All in favor: Motion passes. 
 
BEAD Funding Application Guidelines 
Ramón Hobdey-Sánchez presented the application guidelines to the Board. He explained the changes 
that had been made to the guidelines and how these aided effective implementation of the BEAD 
program. 
 
 
Motion by: Margie Watson 
To approve guidelines with changes subject to potential changes from NTIA 
All in favor: Motion Passes. 
 
New Business: None. 
 
Next IBAB Meeting: Subject to the Call of the Chair. 
 
Adjournment: Meeting adjourned at 11:58 AM.                                                
 
 
 
 
 

5



DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE 

National Telecommunications and Information Administration 

Broadband Equity, Access, and Deployment (BEAD) Program: BEAD Restructuring 
Policy Notice  

ACTION: Notice 

SUMMARY: 

The Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act (IIJA) provides funding for robust investment in 
American infrastructure projects. IIJA established the Broadband Equity, Access, and 
Deployment (BEAD) Program, which provides $42.45 billion of funding to achieve high-speed 
broadband access throughout the United States. See Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act of 
2021, Division F, Title I, Section 60101, Public Law 117-58, 135 Stat. 429 (November 15, 2021) 
(codified at 47 U.S.C. § 1701 et seq.).  

The National Telecommunications and Information Administration (NTIA), as the agency 
responsible for administering the BEAD Program, provides herein guidance for Eligible Entities 
(States, Territories, and the District of Columbia) to ensure American taxpayers obtain the 
greatest value for their broadband investment or “Benefit of the Bargain” under the BEAD 
Program. 

This Policy Notice modifies and replaces certain requirements outlined in the BEAD Notice 
of Funding Opportunity (NOFO).1 Each Eligible Entity must comply with this Policy Notice 
to gain approval of its Final Proposal from the Assistant Secretary of Commerce for 
Communications and Information.2  

1 NTIA, Notice of Funding Opportunity, Broadband Equity, Access, and Deployment Program (May 12, 2022), 
NOFO.pdf (doc.gov).  
2 This document does not and is not intended to supersede, modify, or otherwise alter applicable statutory or 
regulatory requirements. In all cases, statutory and regulatory mandates shall prevail over any inconsistencies 
contained in this document. 

6

https://broadbandusa.ntia.doc.gov/sites/default/files/2022-05/BEAD%20NOFO.pdf


 

 
 

Table of Contents 

1. Background and Purpose .................................................................................................... 3 

2. Elimination of Regulatory Burdens ................................................................................... 3 

3. Technology Neutrality ......................................................................................................... 8 

3.1 Priority Broadband Projects ............................................................................................. 8 

3.2 Technologies Eligible for Participation ......................................................................... 10 

3.3 The Benefit of the Bargain Round (Subgrantee Selection) ........................................... 10 

3.4 Scoring Rubrics .............................................................................................................. 11 

4. Optimizing BEAD Locations ............................................................................................ 13 

5. Non-Deployment Funding ................................................................................................. 15 

6. Permitting ........................................................................................................................... 15 

7. Alignment with Prior Guidance ....................................................................................... 15 

8. Modification of Initial and Final Proposals ..................................................................... 16 

Appendix A: Unlicensed Fixed Wireless Service Requirements ............................................ 17 

Appendix B: Low Earth Orbit Capacity Subgrants ................................................................ 19 

Appendix C: Period of Performance for LEO Capacity Subgrants and Federal Interest 
Period for Broadband Infrastructure Grants ................................................................. 22 

Appendix D: Initial Proposal Correction Template ................................................................ 23 

  

 

 

7



 

3 
 

1. Background and Purpose  

Congress allocated $42.45 billion to the BEAD Program to connect every American to high-
speed broadband Internet access. Instead of ensuring the swift and efficient use of these funds, 
the Biden Administration imposed significant non-statutory burdens and red tape that increased 
taxpayer costs, limited marketplace competition, and diverted resources away from actual 
deployment. As a result of these counterproductive Biden Administration burdens, the BEAD 
Program has failed to put a single shovel in the ground since IIJA’s passage in 2021 —leaving 
many Americans unconnected. This Policy Notice rights these wrongs and institutes much 
needed reforms to the BEAD Program that will realign the Program with statutory intent, speed 
broadband deployment, and guarantee that American taxpayers receive the greatest “Benefit of 
the Bargain” for their historic investment. 

These reforms are necessary. NTIA nevertheless recognizes that stakeholders have invested 
significant resources participating in the BEAD Program since IIJA passed in 2021. Accordingly, 
this Policy Notice carefully balances the work that has previously been done with necessary 
changes to ensure the success of the BEAD Program. Specifically, NTIA does not require 
Eligible Entities to repeat the initial stages of the Program but removes the extralegal Biden 
Administration burdens and promotes greater competition. This targeted approach will ensure 
that all Americans receive the greatest Benefit of the Bargain and that the BEAD Program moves 
forward expeditiously.  

2. Elimination of Regulatory Burdens 
 
Through this Policy Notice, NTIA eliminates burdensome and non-statutory requirements 
contained in the NOFO published on May 12, 2022. There is widespread agreement among 
states, lawmakers, and industry that the superfluous requirements imposed by the Biden 
Administration made the BEAD Program more complex and expensive, stifled competition, and 
led to reduced participation levels.3 This section of the Policy Notice identifies the NOFO 
provisions that are hereby terminated.4 

 
3 Letter from Grant Spellmeyer, et al., to The Honorable Gina Raimondo, July 23, 2024, available here; Letter from 
Senator Ted Cruz, to The Honorable Alan Davidson, Assistant Secretary of Commerce, August 13, 2024, available 
here; Letter from Senator Ted Cruz, to The Honorable Alan Davidson, Assistant Secretary of Commerce, November 
21, 2024, available here; Letter from Senator John Thune, et al., to The Honorable Howard Lutnick, Secretary of 
Commerce, March 27, 2025, available here; Letter from Senator John Thune, et al., to The Honorable Alan 
Davidson, Assistant Secretary of Commerce, April 20, 2023, available here; Letter from Senator Susan Collins, et 
al., to The Honorable Gina M. Raimondo, Secretary of Commerce, August 18, 2022, available here; Letter from 
Glenn Hegar, Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts, to Senator Ted Cruz, February 6, 2025, available here; Jericho 
Casper, ACA Connects Pushes for Less Regulation, Faster BEAD Deployment, Broadband Breakfast, January 31, 
2025, available here. 
4 NTIA has attempted to identify each individual section of the NOFO from which references to non-statutory 
requirements are eliminated. However, to the extent such identification is impossible or impractical within the 
foregoing guidance, NTIA will provide additional technical assistance further clarifying individual references to 
eliminated requirements. 

8

https://ustelecom.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/07/FINAL-Bband-assoc.-ltr-to-Commerce.pdf
https://www.commerce.senate.gov/services/files/7D0C6730-F4AE-4F87-A5FB-97DDFD503D61
https://www.commerce.senate.gov/services/files/C32B6A16-3088-437E-A227-6F72650A081C
https://www.thune.senate.gov/public/_cache/files/10b7d72c-2d7b-484c-923b-bd6015f202c3/92524BFE6689F48614B28DA4BFDC0B469BB9C39859D05AD82B4BA666F037F9D0.03.27.25-thune-letter-to-lutnick-re-bead.pdf
https://www.thune.senate.gov/public/_cache/files/d4e51503-5d28-4744-9033-18c9e38da22d/C3ACEFE761F313B6ABBD99AC63692025.as4.20.2023-bead-nofo-letter-to-ntia-1-.pdf
https://www.collins.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/letter_to_secraimondobeadnofoaug182022.pdf
https://host8.viethwebhosting.com/%7Ewisp/docs/TX_Comptroller_Senator_Cruz_BEAD_Letter.pdf
https://broadbandbreakfast.com/aca-connects-pushes-for-less-regulation-faster-bead-deployment/


 

4 
 

As described below, Eligible Entities shall eliminate the following non-statutory requirements 
from BEAD application scoring, subgrantee agreements, and subgrantee reporting requirements. 
Eligible Entities are hereby prohibited from imposing any of the obligations removed by this 
Policy Notice on subgrantees as part of the BEAD Program. Where state law conflicts with the 
requirements of this Policy Notice, Eligible Entities may seek a waiver of that requirement from 
the Assistant Secretary. 

1. Labor, Employment, and Workforce Development Requirements  

NTIA hereby eliminates the non-statutory requirements in the NOFO related to labor, 
employment, and workforce development. These central planning and diversity, equity, and 
inclusion (DEI) edicts disadvantage both workers and providers, drive up costs, and undermine 
broadband buildout, especially in the rural communities the Program is intended to help.5 
Specifically, NTIA hereby eliminates the following sections of the NOFO: “Fair Labor Practices 
and Highly Skilled Workforce”; “Advancing Equitable Workforce Development and Job Quality 
Objectives”; and “Civil Rights and Nondiscrimination Law Compliance.”6 The related Initial 
Proposal and Final Proposal requirements7 and the corresponding reporting requirements are also 
eliminated.8 The “Contracting with Small and Minority Businesses, Women’s Business 
Enterprises, and Labor Surplus Area Firms” section is also eliminated.9 

Eligible Entities shall satisfy the statutory requirement to “give priority to projects based on . . 
. [a] demonstrated record of and plans to be in compliance with Federal labor and employment 
laws”10 by requiring a subgrant applicant to certify compliance with such laws to the Eligible 
Entity.11  

2. Climate Change Requirements  

NTIA hereby eliminates the requirements in the NOFO related to climate change, which 
prioritized the prior Administration’s radical environmental social agenda at the expense of swift 
and efficient broadband deployment. Specifically, NTIA hereby eliminates the “Climate 

 
5 Johnny Kampis, "State and federal policies may stymie BEAD participation," The Center Square, May 19, 2021, 
available here; Doug Dawson, Another Red Flag – the BEAD Labor Requirements, POTs and PANs (July 18, 2023), 
available here. 
6 NOFO, Section IV.C.1.e-g, pgs. 56-62. 
7 NOFO, Section IV.B.5.b.11-13, pg. 32, and NOFO, Section IV.B.9.b.11.b-c, pg. 48. 
8 NOFO, Section VII.E.2.9,12, pgs. 90-92. 
9 NOFO, Section VII.D.7, pgs. 88-89. 
10 47 U.S.C. §1702(h)(1)(A)(iv)(IV). 
11 To the extent state laws impose additional labor and employment obligations, Eligible Entities must seek a waiver 
of this provision from NTIA, as necessary to comply with state law.  

9

https://www.thecentersquare.com/opinion/article_13128a16-d37f-11ef-8f04-93b00df17467.html
https://www.benton.org/headlines/another-red-flag-%E2%80%93-bead-labor-requirements


 

5 
 

Resilience” section of the NOFO12 and the related Initial Proposal and Final Proposal 
requirements.13 

Subgrantees shall satisfy the statutory requirement to incorporate best practices defined by NTIA 
for ensuring reliability and resilience of broadband infrastructure14 by establishing risk 
management plans that account for technology infrastructure reliability and resilience, including 
from natural disasters (e.g., wildfires, flooding, tornadoes, hurricanes, etc.), as applicable, as well 
as cybersecurity best practices.15   

3. Open Access/Net Neutrality  

NTIA hereby eliminates the non-statutory requirements in the NOFO related to open access and 
net neutrality. Specifically, NTIA eliminates the “Consumer Protections” section of the NOFO16 
that required Eligible Entities to “ensure that each prospective subgrantee does not impose data 
usage caps on any plans offered over a Funded Network or impose unjust or unreasonable 
network management practices.” NTIA further eliminates the “Interconnection Requirements 
and Wholesale Access” section of the NOFO.17   

NTIA finds that these NOFO provisions were superfluous to the goals of the BEAD Program, 
discouraged provider participation, and, as a result, were ultimately counterproductive for 
Eligible Entities undertaking the complex and difficult mission of connecting all of their 
constituents to broadband. Although subgrantees must still satisfy the statutory requirement to 
“include interspersed conduit access points at regular and short intervals” for any project that 
involves laying fiber optic cables or conduit underground or along a roadway,18 NTIA eliminates 
the “Conduit Access Points” section of the NOFO to the extent it imposes additional obligations 
beyond those in the statute.19 

4. Local Coordination and Stakeholder Engagement  

NTIA hereby eliminates the non-statutory requirements in the NOFO related to local 
coordination and stakeholder engagement, including burdensome obligations to consult with 
representatives of various demographic and identity-based interest groups. These provisions only 
served to delay plan submissions and contribute to the current lack of broadband deployment in 

 
12 NOFO, Section IV.C.1.h, pgs. 62-64. 
13 NOFO, Section IV.B.5.b.15, pg. 32, and NOFO, Section IV.B.9.b.11.e, pg. 48. 
14 47 U.S.C. §1702(g)(1)(C). 
15 See, e.g., National Institute of Standards and Technology Framework for Improving Critical Infrastructure 
Cybersecurity, Cybersecurity Supply Chain Risk Management Practices for Systems and Organizations, NIST 800-
161 Rev.1 and Key Practices in Cyber Supply Chain Risk Management: Observations from Industry, NIST IR 8276. 
16 NOFO, Sec. IV.C.2.c.ii, pg. 68. 
17 NOFO, Sec. IV.C.2.c.v, pg. 69. 
18 47 U.S.C. §1702(h)(4)(D). 
19 NOFO, Sec. IV.C.2.b.ii, pg. 66. 

10



 

6 
 

the BEAD Program. Specifically, NTIA eliminates the “Local Coordination” and “Public 
Notice” sections of the NOFO20 and the related Initial Proposal and Final Proposal content 
requirements21 that dramatically expand on the statutory local coordination requirements.   

IIJA statutorily requires Eligible Entities to adopt local coordination requirements established by 
NTIA. NTIA concludes that an Eligible Entity shall satisfy this requirement by certifying that it 
observed the Final Proposal public comment requirements and received plans submitted by 
political subdivisions up until submission of the Final Proposal to NTIA. 

5. Non-Traditional Broadband Providers 

NTIA hereby eliminates requirements in the NOFO that favored non-traditional broadband 
providers (such as municipalities or political subdivisions) by forcing Eligible Entities to justify 
awards to traditional providers when a competing proposal from a non-traditional provider was 
submitted. This illogical requirement introduced a bias that risked redirecting scarce funds to less 
capable providers.22 Specifically, NTIA eliminates the “Consider All Provider Types” section of 
the NOFO23 and the related Initial Proposal and Final Proposal requirements.24 

Eligible Entities must still adhere to the statutory requirement regarding the non-exclusion of 
various entities from eligibility for BEAD subgrants.25 

6. Middle Class Affordability Plan  

NTIA hereby eliminates the NOFO requirement for Eligible Entities to develop, implement, and 
provide updates on a middle-class affordability plan.26 NTIA finds that this non-statutory 
provision was confusing, arbitrary, impossible to operationalize, and deterred provider 
participation in the program.  

7. Low-Cost Service Option  

NTIA hereby eliminates the non-statutory requirements in the NOFO related to the BEAD low-
cost broadband service option (LCSO). Specifically, NTIA hereby eliminates the “Affordability 

 
20 Section IV.C.1.c, pgs. 51-56, and NOFO Section IV.C.2.c.iv, pgs. 68-69. 
21 NOFO, Section IV.B.5.b.4, pg. 31, and NOFO, Section IV.B.9.b.5, pg. 47. 
22 Andrew Long, New Study Once Again Dispels Municipal Broadband Viability: And Affirms the Wisdom of State 
Bans, Free State Foundation, August 18, 2021, available here (noting “that most municipal broadband projects can’t 
even cover their costs.”) 
23 BEAD Section IV.C.1.a, pg. 50-51. 
24 NOFO, Section IV.B.5.b.18, pg. 32, and NOFO, Section IV.B.9.b.10, pg. 48. 
25 47 USC §1702(h)(1)(A)(iii). 
26 This notice eliminates the NOFO section titled Affordability and Low-Cost Plans, which includes the 
requirements for a middle-class affordability plan. 

11

https://freestatefoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/New-Study-Once-Again-Dispels-Municipal-Broadband-Viability-081821.pdf


 

7 
 

and Low-Cost Plans” section of the NOFO.27 and the related Initial Proposal and Final Proposal 
requirements to the extent they are inconsistent with this Policy Notice.28 

IIJA requires BEAD subgrantees to “offer not less than 1 low-cost broadband service option for 
eligible subscribers.”29 IIJA also clearly prohibits NTIA from regulating the rates charged for 
broadband service.30 NTIA finds that by offering a “model” low-cost service option with specific 
dollar amounts and requiring Eligible Entities to set a specific rate in order to be approved by 
NTIA, the Biden Administration engaged in improper rate regulation in the NOFO. Moreover, 
some Eligible Entities imposed unreasonable rates consistent with the parameters outlined in the 
NOFO. NTIA finds that this raised the cost of participating in BEAD and prevented some 
providers from pursuing BEAD subgrants entirely.31 

BEAD subgrantees must still comply with the statutory provision to offer at least one LCSO,32 
but NTIA hereby prohibits Eligible Entities from explicitly or implicitly setting the LCSO rate a 
subgrantee must offer. To be clear, NTIA will only approve Final Proposals that include LCSOs 
proposed by the subgrantees themselves. Finally, NTIA also hereby modifies the eligible 
subscriber definition (below) to align it with the Federal Communications Commission’s (FCC) 
Lifeline Program and other Federal assistance programs. 

a. LCSO Service Requirements 

Consistent with IIJA, Eligible Entities shall require potential BEAD subgrantees to 
propose an LCSO as part of their applications that meets certain speed and performance 
criteria. As required by IIJA and the NOFO, the LCSO must offer speeds of at least 
100/20 Mbps and latency performance of no more than 100 milliseconds. Applicants that 
already offer a low-cost plan that meets these service requirements may satisfy the LCSO 
requirement by proposing to offer their existing low-cost plan to eligible subscribers.  

b. Eligible Subscriber Definition 

IIJA directs NTIA to define “eligible subscriber” for the BEAD low-cost broadband 
service option. The NOFO adopted the eligibility requirements of the FCC’s Affordable 
Connectivity Plan which is no longer operational. Accordingly, NTIA hereby redefines 
“eligible subscriber” to match the eligibility criteria for the FCC’s Lifeline Program. This 
eligibility change aligns the BEAD LCSO requirement with an existing communications 

 
27 NOFO, Section IV.C.2.c.i, pg. 66-68. 
28 NOFO, Section IV.B.5.b.16, pg. 32, and NOFO, Section IV.B.9.b.11.d, pg.48. 
29 47 U.S.C. §1702(h)(4)(B). 
30 Id. at §1702(h)(5)(D). “Nothing in this subchapter may be construed to authorize the Assistant Secretary or 
[NTIA] to regulate the rates charged for broadband service.” 
31 Ana Radelat, Internet for All Plans in Minnesota in Trouble as Broadband Providers Balk at Onerous 
Regulations, MINNPOST (June 24, 2024), available here. 
32 Subgrantees must also still comply with the statutory and NOFO requirements pertaining to service level. 

12

https://www.minnpost.com/greater-minnesota/2024/06/internet-for-all-plans-in-minnesota-in-trouble-as-broadband-providers-balk-at-onerous-regulations/


 

8 
 

affordability program as well as other Federal benefit qualifications for low-income 
Americans. The definition of an Eligible Subscriber for the LCSO stated in the NOFO is 
hereby stricken and is replaced with the following: 

Eligible Subscriber—The term “Eligible Subscriber” means any household 
seeking to subscribe to broadband internet access service that is eligible for the 
FCC’s Lifeline Program.33 

BEAD subgrantees are responsible for verifying LCSO eligibility and may ask potential 
subscribers to provide the same documentation necessary to confirm eligibility as is 
required under the Lifeline program. 

3.    Technology Neutrality 

To guarantee that American taxpayers obtain the greatest return on their broadband investment –  
the Benefit of the Bargain – NTIA finds that the full force of the competitive marketplace must 
be utilized. Therefore, all broadband technologies that meet the performance requirements of 
IIJA and the NOFO must be eligible to participate in the BEAD Program. Accordingly, NTIA 
rejects the Biden Administration’s imposition of technology preferences on Eligible Entities and 
instead adopts a technology neutral approach for the BEAD subgrantee selection process. 

The NOFO limited priority broadband projects to those using end-to-end fiber. In doing so, the 
NOFO relegated other capable technologies, including terrestrial wireless and low Earth orbit 
(LEO) satellite services, to a third-tier status, limiting the ability of these technologies to fully 
participate in the NOFO subgrantee selection process and denying the taxpayer the Benefit of the 
Bargain via increased competition. None of these technology limitations are in statute, and they 
undermine the ability of Eligible Entities to select not only the most cost-effective technologies, 
but also those that are much quicker to deploy, and which may be better suited to a given 
Eligible Entity’s particular circumstances. Accordingly, NTIA hereby eliminates the “Fiber 
Preference” section of the NOFO34 and permits Eligible Entities to select from all qualifying 
technologies. 

3.1 Priority Broadband Projects 
IIJA requires Eligible Entities to prioritize funding for “priority broadband projects.” The statute 
defines a priority broadband project as one designed to: 

(i) provide broadband service that meets speed, latency, reliability, consistency in 
quality of service, and related criteria as the Assistant Secretary shall determine;35 
and 

(ii) ensure that the network built by the project can easily scale speeds over time to – 
 

33 Lifeline eligibility criteria are defined in 47 CFR §54.409. 
34 NOFO, Section IV.B.7.b.2.i-ii. 
35 NTIA previously determined that broadband services must meet the statutory minimum speeds of 100/20 Mbps 
and latency less than or equal to 100 milliseconds (consistent with the FCC).   

13



 

9 
 

a. meet the evolving connectivity needs of households and businesses; and 
b. support the deployment of 5G, successor wireless technologies, and other 

advanced services.36 
The NOFO, however, limited this definition to one technology: end-to-end fiber.37 The definition 
of a Priority Broadband Project as stated in the NOFO is hereby stricken and is replaced with the 
following: 

Priority Broadband Project—The term “Priority Broadband Project” means a project that 
provides broadband service at speeds of no less than 100 megabits per second for 
downloads and 20 megabits per second for uploads, has a latency less than or equal to  
100 milliseconds, and can easily scale speeds over time to meet the evolving connectivity 
needs of households and businesses and support the deployment of 5G, successor 
wireless technologies, and other advanced services. 

Any applicant may seek to have the Eligible Entity treat its application as a Priority Broadband 
Project regardless of the technology used. The applicant’s project, however, must still meet the 
required speed and latency standards set forth in the statute and the NOFO and demonstrate that 
it meets the additional statutory criteria, including that the project can easily scale speeds over 
time to support evolving connectivity needs and the deployment of 5G and successor wireless 
technologies. Applicants must provide supporting documentation sufficient for the Eligible 
Entity to assess the network application and determine that the proposed network architecture for 
each specific project area meets this standard.   

Eligible Entities may not categorically exclude any given technology and may only reject 
treatment of an application as a Priority Broadband Project if the project could not meet the 
statutory definition for a specific project area. As discussed in Section 3.4 below, NTIA reserves 
the right to reverse an Eligible Entity’s determination that a project does or does not meet the 
standard for a Priority Broadband Project if such determination is unreasonable.  

As required by IIJA, Eligible Entities shall give priority to proposals that meet the definition of a 
Priority Broadband Project. If an Eligible Entity determines that no proposal meets the definition 
of a Priority Broadband Project, then it may select a non-priority broadband project that meets 
the speed and latency requirements of the statute and NOFO.38 Eligible Entities are no longer 
required to establish an Extremely High Cost Per Location Threshold, but an Eligible Entity shall 
reject a Priority Broadband Project if the cost of the project is excessive. The NOFO’s additional 
distinctions between fiber, other reliable broadband services, and alternative technologies are 
hereby eliminated.  

 
36 47 U.S.C. §1702(a)(2)(I). 
37 NOFO, Section I.C(r), pg. 14. 
38 In other words, a “non-priority” proposal would offer service at or above 100/20 Mbps and latency less than or 
equal to100 milliseconds, but could not necessarily meet the statutory scalability requirements in 47 U.S.C. 
§1702(a)(2)(I)(ii). 

14



 

10 
 

Scoring for both Priority Broadband Projects and non-Priority Broadband Projects will be 
conducted pursuant to the scoring rubric outlined below.  

3.2 Technologies Eligible for Participation 
The United States is topographically diverse and the most effective broadband technology for 
one part of the country may not be the best fit for another. Therefore, NTIA eliminates the 
NOFO’s rigid three-tier structure for prioritizing technology. Fiber-optic technology, cable 
modem/hybrid fiber-coaxial technology, LEO satellite services, and terrestrial fixed wireless 
technology utilizing entirely licensed spectrum, entirely unlicensed spectrum, or a hybrid of 
licensed and unlicensed spectrum, may be used in applications for Priority Broadband Projects so 
long as the technologies employed in the project proposal meet the technical performance 
requirements in the NOFO, as redefined by this Policy Notice, and the statute.39  

3.3 The Benefit of the Bargain Round (Subgrantee Selection) 
It is critical that the subgrantee selection process reflect the technology neutral approach 
Congress outlined in IIJA and this Policy Notice implements. At the same time, NTIA 
recognizes that given the Biden Administration’s misdirection, some Eligible Entities have 
completed or are in the process of completing their subgrantee selection. As such, NTIA is 
requiring Eligible Entities to conduct at least one additional subgrantee selection round for every 
BEAD-eligible location (the “Benefit of the Bargain Round”). The Benefit of the Bargain Round 
must permit all applicants – regardless of technology employed or prior participation in the 
program – to compete on a level playing field undistorted by the non-statutory regulatory 
burdens eliminated above. All subgrantee selection conducted after the release of this Policy 
Notice must comply with the terms of this Policy Notice.  

Eligible Entities must rescind all preliminary and provisional subaward selections and notify 
applicants that a further round of applications will be considered before final awards are made. 
Eligible Entities that have already completed subgrantee selection must conduct at least one 
Benefit of the Bargain round. Eligible Entities have 90 days to comply with the obligations 
outlined within this Policy Notice and submit a Final Proposal that reflects the results of the 
Benefit of the Bargain round. This deadline replaces the deadline extensions previously granted 
in the Programmatic Waiver of the Final Proposal Deadline Requirements.40 NTIA will complete 
its review of each Final Proposal within 90 days of submission.   

To the extent an Eligible Entity has a prequalification process, it must be reopened to all 
interested applicants, although the Eligible Entity may make prequalification submissions part of 
the application package. Existing qualified applicants do not need to resubmit prequalification 
documentation. If an applicant previously failed the prequalification process, it may choose to 
update its materials and seek prequalification again. Eligible Entities, however, must still ensure 

 
39 Appendix A contains further guidance regarding the technical performance requirements unlicensed fixed wireless 
(ULFW) services must meet to be eligible for BEAD subgrants.  
40 See BEAD Programmatic Waiver of the Final Proposal Deadline Requirements (Apr. 22, 2025), available here. 

15

https://broadbandusa.ntia.gov/waivers_and_policies/BEAD_Programmatic_Waiver_of_Final_Proposal_Deadline_Requirements


 

11 
 

that applicants meet the financial and managerial capacity, technical and operational capability, 
and other requirements in 47 U.S.C. § 1702(g)(2)(A). 

Where an applicant elects to stand on an existing subgrantee application received prior to the 
publication of this Policy Notice, that application shall be rescored under the rubric detailed 
below and may be awarded during the Benefit of the Bargain round, but no BEAD subgrantee 
will be permitted to recover costs to comply with the regulatory burdens eliminated in this Policy 
Notice. Existing applicants may also choose to submit a new application that eliminates the cost 
of these regulatory burdens in anticipation of competition from additional applicants. Eligible 
Entities must exclude all non-statutory regulatory burdens as identified above from the 
application and scoring processes for subgrantee selection. Eligible Entities must also allow 
applicants to propose to exclude select broadband serviceable locations (BSLs) that the applicant 
determines are excessively high-cost locations from the project area (or would otherwise make 
the project economically unviable for the technology being used).41 

As required by IIJA, all subgrantees must deploy the planned broadband network, regardless of 
the technology utilized, and be able to perform a standard installation for each customer that 
desires broadband services within the project area not later than four years after the date on 
which the subgrantee receives the subgrant from the Eligible Entity.42 For purposes of this 
requirement, a standard installation is the initiation by a provider of fixed broadband internet 
access service within 10 business days of a request with no charges or delays attributable to the 
extension of the network of the provider. BEAD subgrantees may charge standard installation 
fees to subscribers on the BEAD-funded network but may not require subscribers to make 
modifications to their own or surrounding property or charge fees for the same in connection 
with installation of broadband services funded by the BEAD Program. 

3.4 Scoring Rubrics 
The goal of restructuring the BEAD Program is to ensure that the American taxpayers receive 
the greatest benefit from their investment in broadband infrastructure while also providing 
Eligible Entities with the flexibility to meet the needs of their unique circumstances. Instead of 
establishing straightforward selection criteria focused on the efficient deployment of broadband, 
the Biden Administration’s guidelines to Eligible Entities were scattered and preoccupied with 
extraneous social policy goals. Thus, NTIA hereby revises the scoring criteria previously 
outlined in the NOFO to focus on minimizing the cost of deployment under the BEAD Program.  

As Eligible Entities conduct further rounds of subgrantee selection to comply with this Notice, 
they must prioritize Priority Broadband Projects over non-Priority Broadband Projects. If an 
Eligible Entity determines that selecting a Priority Broadband Project would incur excessive 
costs, it shall select a lower cost non-Priority Broadband Project.  

NTIA declines to adopt a national cost threshold over which a project would be deemed 
excessive. However, NTIA hereby reserves the right to reject any proposed deployment project 

 
41 Eligible Entities must solicit bids from other potential applicants for any such eliminated BSL, or applicant may 
propose a multi-provider solution. 
42 47 U.S.C. §1702(h)(4)(C). 

16



 

12 
 

or specific BSL connection for which costs to deploy are excessive, as determined by NTIA 
based on the cost characteristics of the area to be served. The Biden Administration pursued an 
extreme technology bias and instructed Eligible Entities to set their Extremely High Cost Per 
Location Threshold “as high as possible.”43 This guidance led to excessive project area costs: 
Nevada’s Extremely High Cost Per Location Threshold set at $200,000, for example, resulted in 
a Final Proposal that included 24 project areas with a per-BSL cost of $100,000 or more. This is 
an unjust and unfair expenditure of taxpayer dollars that this Administration simply will not let 
stand. Eligible Entities are strongly encouraged to exercise judicious cost oversight to avoid 
delay or denial in Final Proposal processing. 

To ensure that taxpayer dollars are protected, NTIA reserves the right to reject an Eligible 
Entity’s selection of a project for a subgrant if such project would impose unreasonable costs on 
the BEAD Program. As discussed in Section 3.1 above, NTIA also reserves the right to overturn 
an Eligible Entity’s determination whether a project meets the definition of a Priority Broadband 
Project. 

Eligible Entities shall score competing applications using the following criteria: 

Primary Criteria. In deciding among competing applications covering the same general project 
areas, Eligible Entities must choose the option with the lowest cost based on minimal BEAD 
Program outlay.  

Minimal BEAD Program Outlay. The Eligible Entity must select the combination of 
project proposals with the lowest overall cost to the Program. This may involve selecting 
a proposal that is not the lowest-cost option for a given set of BSLs but is part of the 
combination of selected projects with the lowest overall cost to the Program.  

When comparing competing proposals, Eligible Entities shall assess the total BEAD 
funding that will be required to complete the project (i.e., the total project cost minus the 
applicant’s proposed match) and the cost to the Program per location (i.e., the total 
BEAD funding that will be required to complete the project divided by the number of 
BSLs the project will serve).  

Secondary Criteria. If an application to serve the same general project area proposes a project 
cost within 15% of the lowest-cost proposal received for that same general project area on a per 
BSL basis, the Eligible Entity must evaluate such competing applications based on the following 
three criteria. The relative weighting of these three criteria shall be at the discretion of the 
Eligible Entity: 

Speed to Deployment. The prospective subgrantee’s binding commitment to provision 
service by a date certain that is earlier than four years after the date on which the 
subgrantee will receive the subgrant from the Eligible Entity subject to contractual 
penalties to the Eligible Entity. Greater consideration can be awarded to prospective 
subgrantees promising an earlier service provision date. 

 
43 NOFO, Section I.C.(k), ft. nt. 6, pg. 13. 

17



 

13 
 

Speed of Network and Other Technical Capabilities. Eligible Entities may weigh the 
speed, latency, and other technical capabilities of the technologies proposed by 
prospective subgrantees.  

Preliminary/Provisional Subgrantees. For locations where Eligible Entities have already 
identified preliminary or provisionally selected subgrantees, Eligible Entities may give 
additional weight to those applications in the Benefit of the Bargain Round.   

As required by IIJA, Eligible Entities must still ensure that subgrantees have a demonstrated 
record of, and plans to continue compliance with, Federal labor and employment laws. A 
subgrantee will satisfy this requirement through self-certification of compliance with Federal 
labor and employment laws. Fair labor practices shall no longer be considered within the scoring 
criteria. Likewise, the other secondary criteria identified in the NOFO (affordability, equitable 
workforce development and job quality, open access, local and tribal coordination), as well as 
any additional scoring criteria imposed by the Eligible Entity, shall no longer be considered as 
award selection criteria. 

4. Optimizing BEAD Locations 

Given the significant work and time already expended and to ensure the BEAD Program begins 
connecting Americans as soon as possible, Eligible Entities are not required to re-run their 
challenge process. NTIA-approved lists of BEAD eligible locations will only be altered in 
accordance with this section. To ensure that the lists of BEAD eligible locations are accurate and 
to prevent overbuilding of privately funded networks and Federal, state, or locally funded 
locations by BEAD, Eligible Entities must implement the following measures:   

• Eligible Entities must investigate and account for locations that do not require BEAD 
funding using the reason code process as detailed in the Final Proposal Guidance.44  
  

• Eligible Entities must modify BEAD-eligible location lists to include locations no longer 
served due to a default or change in service area on a Federal enforceable commitment 
where the Federal entity has notified NTIA and the Eligible Entity of the default by the 
release of this Policy Notice. To facilitate the process, NTIA will send each Eligible 
Entity, if applicable, a list of defaulted or newly eligible locations that qualify for BEAD 
within fourteen (14) calendar days of the issuance of this Policy Notice. Eligible Entities 
must: (1) determine that these locations are not served by some other means (e.g., state 
enforceable commitment); (2) certify that the locations are unserved or underserved; and 

 
44 Specifically, Eligible Entities must remove locations that have been removed from the latest version of the FCC 
Fabric (reason code 3), locations already served by an enforceable commitment (reason code 4), and locations 
already served by non-subsidized service (reason code 5) wherever possible and account for them in the Final 
Proposal. NTIA will validate that these reason codes have been exercised when reviewing Final Proposals. 
Furthermore, Eligible Entities must certify in the Final Proposal that none of the BEAD funded BSLs should be 
classified under reason code 1 (should not have a broadband connection) or reason code 2 (do not need mass-market 
broadband service due to the nature of use). Eligible Entities must utilize reason codes 1, 2, and 3 for the entire 
period of performance, in accordance with the Final Proposal Guidance. 

18



 

14 
 

(3) incorporate these locations into their BEAD location list prior to accepting 
applications in subgrantee selection. Eligible Entities with a need to incorporate these 
locations must update their post challenge locations list to reflect the new BEAD eligible 
locations (i.e., updated BSL classifications) in their submission to NTIA detailing 
implementation of the Policy Notice, as detailed in Section 8 below. 
 

• Because unlicensed fixed wireless providers (ULFW) providers are now permitted to 
compete for BEAD subgrants on a level playing field with all other applications, Eligible 
Entities must account for BSLs with access to existing ULFW networks to prevent 
overbuilding. Thus, Eligible Entities must take the following steps to ensure that 
locations already served by an ULFW service that meets the technical specifications 
within Appendix A of this Policy Notice are not included in awards for BEAD 
deployment projects. Before implementing the Benefit of the Bargain round, Eligible 
Entities must review the FCC’s National Broadband Map to determine whether such an 
ULFW provider (technology code 70) currently offers service to any BEAD-eligible 
BSLs in its jurisdiction. If so, the Eligible Entity must notify the ULFW provider (public 
posting is sufficient notice) that it has seven calendar days to respond that the ULFW 
provider intends to submit evidence that BEAD funding is not required for the locations it 
serves. 
 
Upon receiving the response, the Eligible Entity shall allow the provider seven (7) 
calendar days to submit documentation supporting the claim that the existing ULFW 
services meet the same technical and service standards required for a ULFW application 
for a BEAD subgrant (see Appendix A of this Notice) and the provider is reasonably 
capable of delivering the service for at least four years after the date of Final Proposal 
submission.45 If a ULFW service provider demonstrates that it meets the requirements 
specified by this Policy Notice, the served locations will be ineligible for BEAD Program 
funding. If the provider does not respond or fails to meet the requirements specified by 
this Policy Notice herein, the locations in question will remain BEAD eligible. 
     

• Eligible Entities must revise their list of eligible Community Anchor Institutions (CAIs) 
to ensure their designations conform with the statutory definition of a CAI as established 
by IIJA.46  NTIA hereby revokes the more expansive definition adopted by the NOFO.47 
NTIA will closely review all CAI submissions and will narrowly interpret the term 
“community support organization” as used in the statute.  NTIA reserves the right to 
reject any CAI designation. 

 
45 The Eligible Entity may request additional evidence from the ULFW service provider and receive information 
from other sources. 
46 47 U.S.C. §1702(a)(2)(E). 
47 NOFO, Section I.C.(f), pgs. 11-12. 

19



 

15 
 

5. Non-Deployment Funding  

Funding for allowable non-deployment purposes is under review and NTIA will issue updated 
guidance in the future. As of the date of this Policy Notice, NTIA rescinds approval of all non-
deployment activities approved in Initial Proposals. NTIA will not reimburse Eligible Entities for 
any new costs associated with previously approved non-deployment activities incurred after the 
date of this Policy Notice. An Eligible Entity should consult with the NIST Grants Office and 
NTIA if the Eligible Entity believes that it is entitled to reimbursement for non-deployment 
activities or costs that were incurred prior to the publication of this Policy Notice. Final 
Proposals will only require detail on the use of BEAD funds for deployment projects.    

6. Permitting 

To support NTIA’s goal of issuing National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) approvals within 
two weeks for an estimated 90 percent of BEAD projects and eliminate approximately 3-6 
months of environmental processing per project, all Eligible Entities are hereby required to use 
the Environmental Screening and Permitting Tracking Tool (ESAPTT) within the NTIA Grants 
Portal. ESAPTT will help Eligible Entities serve as joint lead agencies for NEPA reviews by 
identifying applicable categorical exclusions and enabling paperless transmission of 
environmental documents and generation of draft and final NEPA documents. NTIA will 
generate ESAPTT project records from BEAD subgrant award data, which must identify any 
awards containing multiple NEPA project areas. Eligible Entities are further encouraged to use 
ESAPTT’s permitting tracking capacity to evaluate and track subrecipient NEPA milestone 
schedules and escalate Federal right-of-way permitting issues to NTIA for interagency 
resolution.  

7. Alignment with Prior Guidance 

The following Policy Notices addressing “Alternative Technologies” and BEAD subgrantee 
selection are now obsolete and are hereby rescinded: 

• Broadband Equity, Access, and Deployment (BEAD) Program: Selecting the Most 
Robust, Affordable, Scalable Technology, released June 26, 2024; and 

• Broadband Equity, Access, and Deployment (BEAD) Program: Alternative Broadband 
Technology Policy Notice, released December 12, 2024. 

 
Certain portions of those Policy Notices addressed unique issues related to ULFW and LEO 
projects. These ULFW and LEO issues are now addressed in this Policy Notice as follows: (1) 
Deduplication of unlicensed fixed wireless services is addressed in Section 4 above, and (2) 
Procedures for LEO capacity subgrants are addressed in Appendix B. 

20



 

16 
 

8. Modification of Initial and Final Proposals 

As of the date of this Policy Notice, any new costs incurred by an Eligible Entity to implement 
its Initial Proposal must comply with the terms of the Notice. Any costs incurred by an Eligible 
Entity after this Notice is published that do not comply with the terms of this Notice may be 
disallowed.  

Further, NTIA hereby rescinds all Final Proposal approvals that occurred prior to the publication 
of this Notice, as those Final Proposals no longer effectuate the goals of the Program or the 
agency priorities that are detailed in this Notice.48 Any Eligible Entity affected by this change 
must follow the same process as all other Eligible Entities, described in the next paragraph, to 
incorporate the terms of this Notice into its Initial Proposal. 

To comply with this Policy Notice, the Authorized Organization Representative for each Eligible 
Entity must submit a letter to NTIA within 30 calendar days requesting an Initial Proposal 
correction to incorporate the terms of the Policy Notice into its Initial Proposal. A template of 
this letter is included in Appendix D below. No other modifications to Initial Proposals will be 
considered at this time. The submission must include the list of newly added locations described 
in Section 4 above, if applicable. An Eligible Entity may also submit an Initial Proposal Funding 
Request budget modification in addition to this letter, should it need access to additional BEAD 
funds or need to reallocate BEAD funding across cost categories to execute the actions required 
by this Policy Notice. An Eligible Entity may execute its modified subgrantee selection process 
once NTIA approves the Initial Proposal correction. Budget modifications will require both 
NTIA and NIST approval. 

 
48 NTIA executes these actions based on the authority in 2 CFR §200.340(a)(2), which is incorporated into each 
BEAD award. 

21



 

17 
 

Appendix A: Unlicensed Fixed Wireless Service Requirements 

NTIA finds that concerns regarding the reliability of ULFW services could have been easily 
mitigated by implementing specialized technical requirements rather than by prohibiting their 
inclusion entirely in the BEAD Program. To ensure technology neutrality, increase competition, 
and drive down costs for taxpayers, NTIA determines that ULFW technology should be 
permitted to participate in the BEAD application process so long as it meets the technical criteria 
specified herein. Providers utilizing ULFW services must demonstrate that they have taken the 
steps necessary to resolve potential interference and capacity constraints associated with such 
technology. Specifically, ULFW applicants must demonstrate they have addressed the problems 
of interference from other Part 15 users49 competing for the same spectrum and the difficulty of 
evaluating ULFW network capability. ULFW providers may adopt the following mitigation 
strategies to meet this burden. 

Eligible Entities shall determine whether ULFW providers have presented sufficient evidence to 
address these concerns and are therefore qualified to apply for BEAD funds. This determination 
is separate from deciding whether a project application employing ULFW is a priority broadband 
project. 

The following are examples of mitigation strategies that unlicensed fixed wireless providers may 
adopt to address the technical issues associated with ULFW deployments: 

Mitigating Potential Interference:  

• Beam forming and/or beam nulling antenna arrays at both base station and subscriber 
radios  

• Interference mitigation (in addition to beam forming/nulling) technologies  
• Advanced non-line-of-sight capabilities or design considerations  
• Reserved base station capacity to account for periods of higher interference  
• Conservative link budgets to account for potential interference/congestion losses  
• Adherence with network equipment manufacturer best practices or guidance regarding 

items such as minimum signal strength necessary to meet speed and latency requirements 
 Evaluating Network Capability: 

• To ensure that the ULFW provider will have sufficient capacity to meet the statutory 
speed requirement of 100 Mbps download and 20 Mbps upload, the network design for 
ULFW projects must demonstrate the ability to provide at least 5 Mbps (100Mbps 
downstream service - to be scaled for higher speed commitments) of simultaneous 
capacity to each BSL in the project area 

• Reserved base station capacity to account for periods of higher interference 
• Adherence with network equipment manufacturer best practices or guidance regarding 

items such as: 
• Capacity/loading of base station radios with respect to number of, and provisioned 

bandwidth of, subscribers 
 

49 47 CFR Part 15 (Radio Frequency Devices). 

22



 

18 
 

• Minimum signal strength necessary to meet speed and latency requirements 
• Backhaul requirements for base station deployments   

23



 

19 
 

Appendix B: Low Earth Orbit Capacity Subgrants 

As noted in Section 7 above, the legal and regulatory framework for Federal grants that has 
historically applied to broadband deployment funding programs does not capture the differences 
between LEO deployments and other broadband technologies. For example, when funding 
traditional broadband service, the Federal government typically takes an interest in the physical 
plant to ensure performance. With LEO service, however, there is no defined network dedicated 
to fixed locations in which the Federal government could take an interest to ensure performance. 

To address this issue, NTIA requires that Eligible Entities awarding BEAD subgrants to LEO 
providers employ “LEO Capacity Subgrants.” Pursuant to a LEO Capacity Subgrant, an Eligible 
Entity shall reserve sufficient capacity from the LEO provider to deliver broadband service that 
meets the BEAD performance and technical requirements to each BSL in the project area and 
shall include the conditions set forth below.50 

Conditions of LEO Capacity Subgrants  

First, as required by 47 U.S.C. § 1702(h)(4)(C), like all other subgrantees, recipients of LEO 
Capacity Subgrants must begin providing broadband service to each customer that desires 
broadband service not later than four years from the date of the subgrant.51 A recipient of a LEO 
Capacity Subgrant shall be deemed to have begun to provide service when it certifies to the 
Eligible Entity that the recipient can initiate broadband service within ten (10) business days of a 
request to any covered BSL in the project area, with no charges or delays attributable to 
extension of the service.52 

Second, Eligible Entities shall require a period of performance53 for LEO Capacity Subgrants 
that concludes ten years from the date upon which the subgrantee certifies to the Eligible Entity 
that broadband is available to every location covered by the project.54 Recipients of LEO 
Capacity Subgrants must continue to offer access to broadband service to each BSL served by 
the project throughout the period of performance.55 In other words, if a customer receiving 

 
50 These conditions apply even if only a portion of the BEAD funds under the subgrant goes to reimburse a 
subgrantee for the reservation of capacity on LEO network to deliver last-mile broadband service. 
51 47 U.S.C. §1702(h)(4)(C); see also NOFO, Section IV.C.2.b.i, pg. 65.   
52 When evaluating whether to approve Final Proposals, NTIA will use the same standard of availability used in the 
Challenge Process Policy Notice, which aligns with the FCC’s National Broadband Map standards. See NTIA, 
Policy Notice: BEAD Challenge Process at 10 (2023), BEAD Challenge Process Policy Notice (doc.gov).   
53 To reduce the administrative burden, Eligible Entities may close out all other subgrants while LEO Capacity 
Subgrants remain open. NTIA will extend the period of performance of the Eligible Entity’s grant if needed to allow 
for this period of performance.   
54 For all other BEAD deployment subgrants, NTIA is applying a ten-year Federal interest period. See NTIA, Policy 
Notice: Tailoring the Application of the Uniform Guidance to the BEAD Program at 3 (2023), BEAD Policy Notice: 
Uniform Guidance Exceptions, Adjustments, Clarifications (doc.gov) (“Uniform Guidance Policy Notice”). 
55 See NOFO, Section IV.C.2.b. at 68 (“Operators of Funded Networks shall provide access to broadband service to 
each customer served by the project that desires broadband service on terms and conditions that are reasonable and 
non-discriminatory.”).    

24

https://broadbandusa.ntia.doc.gov/sites/default/files/2024-02/BEAD_Challenge_Process_Policy_Notice_v1.3.pdf
https://broadbandusa.ntia.doc.gov/sites/default/files/2023-12/BEAD_Policy_Notice_of_Part_200_Exceptions_Related_Issues.pdf
https://broadbandusa.ntia.doc.gov/sites/default/files/2023-12/BEAD_Policy_Notice_of_Part_200_Exceptions_Related_Issues.pdf


 

20 
 

service at a BSL moves, the LEO service provider must continue to offer service to the BSL, but 
not necessarily the previous subscriber, under the terms of the subgrant if subsequent occupants 
request service. 

Because of the nature of LEO service, Eligible Entities cannot identify a portion of the LEO 
network that is dedicated to certain locations in their jurisdiction.  Therefore, NTIA will not take 
a Federal interest in equipment or property acquired or improved with a LEO Capacity Subgrant. 
Additionally, the consumer and taxpayer protections set forth in the NOFO apply to the 
recipients of such subgrants for the duration of this ten-year Federal interest period.56 Extending 
the period of performance for LEO Capacity Subgrants57 to ten years will help NTIA and 
Eligible Entities ensure that the consumer and taxpayer protections that apply to all other last-
mile deployment projects will apply to LEO Capacity Subgrants for a similar duration.58 

Third, Eligible Entities may reimburse recipients of LEO Capacity Subgrants in equal 
installments throughout the period of performance for each location where capacity is reserved. 
Alternatively, reimbursement may be based on subscriber milestones or another metric that 
creates an incentive for recipients of LEO Capacity Subgrants to enroll subscribers in BEAD-
funded locations. Eligible Entities may advance up to 50% of the total cost of the subgrant: (1) at 
the time the subgrantee certifies the availability of service throughout the project area; (2) upon 
the subgrantee meeting subscription milestones established by the Eligible Entity (e.g., 50% of 
the locations in the project area subscribing to the subgrantee’s qualifying broadband service); or 
(3) a combination thereof. If the Eligible Entity elects to advance a portion of the subgrant, the 
remaining portion shall be distributed in equal installments across the remaining period of 
performance. Eligible Entities may provide payment in yearly, semi-annual, or quarterly 
installments.59 

Fourth, the Letter of Credit requirement must be administered in a way that incentivizes 
providers to reach out to potential subscribers to encourage adoption.  This is because LEO 
subgrantees will receive funding for solely reserving capacity rather than constructing a physical 
network, and as a result, may have less incentive to pursue subscribers. Consistent with this 
reimbursement model, the LEO provider may reduce its Letter of Credit or performance bond by 
50% at the point of certification that service is available to each location in the project area. The 
Letter of Credit can be reduced by an additional 25% of the original amount after the 
subscription rate reaches at least 25% of all locations in the project area and may be closed out 

 
56 See NOFO at 64-71. 
57 Subgrants solely for LEO capacity do not acquire or improve any real property and NTIA will not take a Federal 
interest in the LEO network capacity in LEO Capacity Subgrants.   
58 See Uniform Guidance Policy Notice at 3. 
59 For example, if the cost of reserving capacity for the extended period of performance is $100 per location and 
there are 100 locations, the total funding provided would be $10,000 and an Eligible Entity could provide a 
reimbursement of $1,000 per year, $500 semi-annually, or $250 quarterly. The numbers used are for illustrative 
purposes only and do not correspond to actual costs of LEO Capacity Subgrants. 

25



 

21 
 

once the subscription rate reaches 50 percent.60 Regardless of the subscription rate, the Letter of 
Credit may be terminated four years after the LEO Capacity Subgrantee certifies that it can 
initiate broadband service within 10 business days of a request to any covered BSL in the project 
area.   

Additionally, the NOFO requires the inclusion of clawback provisions and robust subgrantee 
monitoring practices.61 As is the case for all other deployment projects, Eligible Entities must 
distribute funding for LEO Capacity Subgrants on a reimbursable basis (which allows the 
Eligible Entity to withhold funds if the subgrantee fails to take required actions under the terms 
of the subgrant).62  

In light of the advantages conferred by the unique structure of the LEO Capacity Subgrant to the 
provider and the higher costs of consumer premises equipment (CPE) essential for delivery of 
broadband service via LEO satellite, LEO Capacity Subgrantees must provide all necessary CPE 
at no cost as part of the standard installation for each new subscriber (i.e. for each new resident 
or group of residents) at the BEAD-funded location throughout the period of performance.63 If 
the same subscriber requests additional CPE after installation, the LEO Capacity Subgrantee may 
charge customary rates unless the request is made due to equipment malfunction or damage 
caused by a weather event.  

As explained in the now-revoked Alternative Broadband Technology Policy Notice, determining 
the financial capacity of LEO providers presents a unique challenge for Eligible Entities as they 
determine whether applicants meet the subgrantee qualifications described in the NOFO, as 
modified by this Policy Notice. To reduce the burden on Eligible Entities, NTIA encourages 
LEO providers to submit audited financial statements to NTIA demonstrating their financial 
capacity to undertake the commitments of a subgrantee in all areas in which the provider seeks to 
serve. NTIA, in turn, will work with the provider to develop a financial certification letter 
documenting the financial capability of the provider. This letter can be relied upon by Eligible 
Entities in satisfying their obligation to ensure the financial capability of the subgrantee. Eligible 
Entities may accept this financial certification letter as a part of their qualification process. 
 

 
60 To further illustrate the Letter of Credit requirement using this example, the original Letter of Credit would have 
been valued at $2,500. Upon certification of service availability, the Letter of Credit could be reduced to $1,250. 
After achieving a 25% “take rate” in the project area, the Letter of Credit could be further reduced to $625 and 
eliminated after reaching a 50% “take rate.” The reduction in the Letter of Credit obligations continues to be 
allowable even if the subscription rate later drops.   
61 See NOFO at 51. 
62 See id. 
63 The LEO Capacity Subgrantee obligation is limited to no more than three (3) CPE during the period of 
performance. 

26



 

22 
 

Appendix C: Period of Performance for LEO Capacity Subgrants and Federal Interest Period 
for Broadband Infrastructure Grants 

27



 

23 
 

Appendix D: Initial Proposal Correction Template 
[AOR Name] 
[AOR Title] 
[AOR Organization] 
[AOR Address] 
  
Courtney Dozier 
Acting Director 
Broadband Equity, Access, and Deployment Program 
National Telecommunications and Information Administration 
  
Re: June 6, 2025 BEAD Restructuring Policy Notice 
  
Dear Mrs. Dozier, 
  
[Insert name of EE] submits this letter to request an Initial Proposal (IP) correction pursuant to 
the June 06, 2025, BEAD Restructuring Policy Notice. This letter requests incorporation of the 
terms of the Notice into our IP.  [Insert name of EE] confirms that it must modify its previously-
approved subgrantee selection process to conform to the terms of the Notice. It will also take all 
other actions needed to conform the implementation of its BEAD award to the requirements 
contained in the Notice.  [Insert name of EE]  [will/will not] submit a budget modification to 
accompany this IP correction request. 
  
Sincerely, 
[AOR Name] 
[Date] 
 

28



Page | 1 

Introduction 

The National Telecommunications and Information Administration’s (NTIA) Broadband Equity, Access, 
and Deployment (BEAD) Program released its Notice of Funding Opportunity (NOFO) in May 2022, 
outlining clear rules and processes for the BEAD Program structure, sequencing, requirements, and the 
selection of subgrantees. As the Idaho Broadband Advisory Board (IBAB) is aware from meetings and 
updates over the past several years, the Idaho Office of Broadband (IOB) has been following the NOFO’s 
highly detailed, federally mandated roadmap to successfully secure Idaho’s $583 million BEAD 
allocation to deliver broadband access to residents who lack fast, reliable, and affordable internet 
service as part of Idaho’s BEAD Program (Program). 

As reported at the May 14, 2025, IBAB meeting, the first of two phases in the subgrantee application 
process—the Prequalification Phase—has been completed. Forty subgrantees successfully 
demonstrated that they had financial, managerial, operational, and technical capabilities to participate 
in the BEAD Program, if awarded. In addition, these subgrantees certified that they will comply with all 
the BEAD NOFO’s required standards and laws. It was wisely decided at the May meeting to temporarily 
pause before beginning phase two of the Subgrantee Selection Process, the Funding Application Phase, 
pending the anticipated BEAD policy update from the NTIA. The policy notice was released on June 6, 
2025. 

The June 6th BEAD Policy Notice (2025 Policy Notice) introduces significant changes to the BEAD 
Program’s structure, including updates to required sequencing and the Subgrantee Selection Process. 
Additionally, the qualifications for subgrantees have been expanded to more comprehensively include 
unlicensed fixed wireless (ULFW) and Low Earth Orbit satellite (LEOs) providers. 

This summary outlines high-level changes to the programmatic elements of BEAD, highlighting both 
what has changed and what remains the same. Notably, there are significant impacts to the 
Subgrantee Selection Process, which demand an abrupt pivot and prompt action. The IOB is 
responding immediately to the new guidance.  

The chart below illustrates the federally mandated components of the complete BEAD application 
process and how Idaho’s current Subgrantee Selection Process organized these components into two 
phases: BEAD Prequalification Application and Funding Application. The circled components are 
requirements that have been significantly reduced or eliminated by the 2025 Policy Notice. 

6.26.25

29

https://www.ntia.gov/sites/default/files/2025-06/bead-restructuring-policy-notice.pdf


  

Page | 2  

 

Idaho BEAD Application 

Timeline 

Changes from the 2025 Policy Notice to the BEAD Program have introduced significant shifts in the 
timeline for the State to execute mandated tasks:  

 

30



  

Page | 3  

 

Under the 2025 Policy Notice, the subgrantee application, deconfliction, negotiations, IBAB approval, 
and public posting and submission of the Final Proposal must now be completed in a total of 90 
days, making the BEAD Final Proposal due to the NTIA on September 4, 2025. The new policy 
guidance adds three additional time-bound tasks that must take place before the Funding Application 
window can open:  

1. Unlicensed Fixed Wireless (ULFW) challenge process (14 days): June 17-July 1, 2025 
2. Optimize BEAD eligible locations: Use available data, resources and evidence to update eligible 

broadband serviceable locations (BSLs) and NTIA’s list of newly eligible BSLs that are no longer 
served by an enforceable commitment. 

3. Submit a request to revise the State’s Initial Proposal, by adopting the 2025 Policy Notice (due to 
NTIA no later than July 7, 2025—NTIA approval of this request is required to move to the Funding 
Application Phase) 

Initial Proposal and Application Question Updates  

Elements of the IOB Subgrantee Selection Process that remain in place 

The 2025 Policy Notice imposes significant changes to the State’s Subgrantee Selection Process, 
including elements of its Initial Proposal Volume II (IPV2), Prequalification Application, Funding 
Application Questions, and Scoring Criteria. However, several elements of the IOB’s current process will 
remain in place and will continue to be an important part of the IOB funding analysis and Subgrantee 
Selection Process. These elements are still required because they reflect statutory obligations, have not 
been explicitly eliminated in the 2025 Policy Notice, or have been explicitly discussed and kept in the 
2025 Policy Notice.  

Applicants must still provide detailed information about their proposed projects on these essential 
elements: 

• Budget, Applicant Match, and Pro Forma Financials  

• Application Project Areas (with updated eligible BSL list) 

• Maximum four-year deployment timeline with key milestone commitments 

• Managerial and Financial Capability documentation and certifications, including Letter of 
Credit and Audited Financials 

• Environmental and Historic Preservation requirements 

• Build America, Buy America requirements 

• Certification of Compliance with federal labor and employment laws 

31



  

Page | 4  

 

• Network technology maps, routes, and narrative descriptions 

• Professional Engineer Certification 

• Low-Cost Service Plan 

• Tribal Consent Resolution, if applicable  

• Cybersecurity and Supply Chain Risk Management Plans 

Some, but not all, of the current IOB application materials that cover the above topics will need to be 
revised to comply with the 2025 Policy Notice. For example, while the requirement for an applicant to 
offer a low-cost service plan to eligible Idaho households as part of its project is still in effect, Idaho 
must revise and eliminate any requirements regarding rates and/or marketing requirements of these 
services. The IOB team is revising its application materials to reflect these changes, as well as the 
elements of the process that will remain unchanged. 

Elements of the IOB Subgrantee Selection Process that will change (2025 Policy 
Notice, Section 2) 

The 2025 Policy Notice outlines several changes to the NOFO requirements that the NTIA has now 
determined to be unnecessary. To implement these changes, the IOB must remove seven non-statutory 
requirements as part of this restructuring. An overview of the affected provisions and impacts on 
Idaho’s BEAD Program is below.  

Fair Labor Practices and Highly Skilled Workforce 

The 2025 Policy Notice eliminates the non-statutory NOFO labor, employment, and workforce 
requirements and several sections of the NOFO, including “Fair Labor Practices and Highly Skilled 
Workforce,” “Advancing Equitable Workforce Development and Job Quality Objectives,” “Civil Rights and 
Nondiscrimination Law Compliance,” and “Contracting with Small and Minority Businesses, Women’s 
Business Enterprises, and Labor Surplus Area Firms.” (pg. 3-8) These eliminated sections include 
applicant requirements such as submitting plans to ensure compliance with federal labor and 
employment laws, submitting wage information, discussing project labor agreements or plans for 
health and safety committees, addressing workforce development, and plans to involve minority- and 
women-owned businesses. These eliminated sections also require the IOB to include relevant 
descriptions of the provisional subgrantees’ plans for labor and workforce development in the Final 
Proposal. Under the 2025 Policy Notice, the IOB will have no insight or information into these labor 
practices of its applicants or subgrantees. 

 

 

32



  

Page | 5  

 

 

Climate Change and Resilience 

The 2025 Policy Notice has also eliminated the section of the NOFO related to climate resilience. This 
change includes the elimination of requirements to account for current and future weather- and 
climate-related risks to new infrastructure projects in the Final Proposal, such as identifying hazards, 
characterizing risks, and identifying mitigation measures. 

 

Open Access and Net Neutrality 

The 2025 Policy Notice eliminates the “Consumer Protections,” “Interconnection Requirements and 
Wholesale Access,” and “Conduit Access Points” sections of the NOFO. This change means the IOB 
can no longer set rules related to non-statutory requirements in the NOFO related to consumer 

New Requirement: Subgrantees must establish risk management plans that account for the 
reliability and resilience of their technology infrastructure, including protection against natural 
disasters as applicable, as well as cybersecurity practices. 

States are no longer required to provide an implementation status of climate change and resilience 
measures in their Final Proposal.  

Action: The IOB is revising the BEAD application materials to address changes related to this 
subject by eliminating requests for information from applicants regarding plans for natural hazard 
risk mitigation. However, the IOB will maintain other elements of its application materials to 
implement NTIA’s directive to incorporate best practices for network reliability and resilience by 
asking questions about an applicant’s plans to incorporate these best practices in its network 
design. Moreover, the IOB will comply with statutory obligations through its Prequalification 
certifications regarding an applicant’s cybersecurity and supply chain risk management plans to be 
based on best practices as defined by the National Institute of Standards and Technology  (NIST) 
Framework for Improving Critical Infrastructure as a guide, including Cybersecurity, Cybersecurity 
Supply Chain Risk Management Practices for Systems and Organizations (NIST 800 - 161 Rev.1), 
and Key Practices in Cyber Supply Chain Risk Management: Observations from Industry (NIST IR 
8276). General discussions about climate change resilience and natural hazard risk mitigation are 
no longer required in Idaho’s Final Proposal. 

33



  

Page | 6  

 

protections, such as data caps and unjust or unreasonable network management practices; open 
access requirements for subgrant funds to deploy middle-mile infrastructure; and the deployment of a 
reasonable amount of excess conduit capacity.  

 

 

Local Coordination and Stakeholder Engagement  

The “Local Coordination” and “Public Notice” sections of the NOFO have also been eliminated. This 
change impacts applicant requirements to demonstrate geographic coverage of engagement activities, 
diverse stakeholder involvement, multiple engagement mechanisms, transparency, and effective 
engagement with underrepresented communities. It also eliminates the requirement for subgrantees to 
conduct multichannel public awareness campaigns aimed at increasing broadband adoption, which 
includes publicizing information about low-cost or subsidized plans. 

The Final Proposal requirements related to local coordination and stakeholder engagement have also 
been removed, which means that, except for a public comment period on the Final Proposal itself, a 
description of the local coordination and summary of the impact on the Final Proposal content are no 
longer required.  

New Requirement: States are not permitted to preclude data usage caps for services offered over a 
BEAD-funded network and subgrantees can no longer be required to certify via semiannual reporting 
that these plans do not contain data usage caps. Additionally, states cannot require open access to 
middle-mile infrastructure, give preference to applicants that commit to offering wholesale 
broadband services at rates and terms that are reasonable and nondiscriminatory, or request 
information about excess conduit capacity from applicants.  

The 2025 Policy Notice retains the statutory requirement for subgrantees to include interspersed 
conduit access points at regular and short intervals for any project that involves laying fiber optic 
cables or conduit underground or along a roadway. 

Action: The IOB is revising the application materials to remove questions that do not align with the 
2025 Policy Notice and will ensure it otherwise adheres to the requirements of the 2025 Policy 
Notice as outlined above.  

34



  

Page | 7  

 

 

Non-Traditional Broadband Providers 

Under the 2025 Policy Notice, the IOB may not adopt policies that provide support for non-traditional 
broadband providers, such as political subdivisions, to participate in the Program, as the "Consider All 
Provider Types" section of the NOFO has been eliminated. This change includes the elimination of the 
requirement for the IOB to describe its efforts and methods to open the Program to these non-
traditional providers, explain the allocation of awards to traditional providers over non-traditional 
providers, identify unsuccessful applications by these entities, and describe the impact in the Final 
Proposal.  

 

 

Middle Class Affordability Plan 

The 2025 Policy Notice removes all NOFO requirements for a middle-class affordability plan, including 
any direction to applicants for the development, implementation, and updates for these plans. The 
“Affordability and Low-Cost Plans” section of the NOFO is eliminated, which impacts the middle-class 
affordability plan. The IOB currently requires applicants to propose the pricing, terms, and conditions 
for a service plan that the IOB would score on specific “affordability” criteria. The IOB did not mandate 
specific pricing for these plans but instead encouraged affordable pricing by awarding more points to 
applicants who proposed a lower-priced service. Under the 2025 Policy Notice, this type of affordability 
analysis is no longer allowed. 

New Requirement: States will be required 
to certify that they observed the Final 
Proposal public comment requirements and 
received broadband plans submitted by 
political subdivisions up until submission of 
the Final Proposal to NTIA. 

New Requirement: States are still 
prohibited from explicitly excluding these 
entities from participation in the Program 
under the federal statute. 

Action: The IOB will fulfill the statutory 
requirement by adhering to the new 
requirements and completing the required 
certification.  

Action: The IOB will ensure that entities, 
such as cooperatives, nonprofit 
organizations, public-private-partnerships, 
private companies, public or private utilities, 
public utility districts, and local 
governments, are eligible for BEAD funding. 

35



  

Page | 8  

 

 

Low-Cost Service Option 

With the removal of the “Affordability and Low-Cost Plans” NOFO section, several specific NOFO 
requirements for an applicant’s low-cost service option were also eliminated, as were the related Final 
Proposal requirements. In Idaho’s current Initial Proposal, the IOB requires applicants to set the rate for 
the low-cost service option no higher than $70 and imposes other requirements for the terms and 
conditions of this service offering. The 2025 Policy Notice prohibits the IOB from encouraging a specific 
rate or imposing a rate cap on low-cost service options. The 2025 Policy Notice also removes the 
discretion for the IOB to define required eligibility criteria for these low-cost plans and, instead, adopts 
the definition of “eligible subscriber” to align with the FCC’s Lifeline Program. 

 

New Requirement: States are not 
permitted to consider requirements for 
applicants to offer middle-class affordability 
plans, comply with state requirements, or 
document middle-class affordability 
options. Additionally, the IOB cannot score 
proposed projects based on an affordability 
scale applied to the pricing of any offered 
plan. 

Action: The IOB is updating application 
materials to remove any content that does 
not align with the revised policy, including 
changes to the application questions and 
scoring matrix. 

Action: The IOB will update its application 
questions to reflect this change in policy but 
will retain questions that ask applicants to 
describe their proposed low-cost service 
option. The IOB will not propose a low-cost 
service option in the Final Proposal and any 
rate references will be those proposed by 
provisional subgrant awardees. 

New Requirement: States are not 
permitted to explicitly or implicitly set a low-
cost service rate. However, subgrantees 
continue to be required to offer a low-cost 
service option that provides speeds of at 
least 100/20 megabits per second (Mbps) 
and latency performance of no more than 
100 milliseconds (ms). The 2025 Policy 
Notice indicates that this requirement may 
be met by proposing an existing low-cost 
plan to eligible subscribers and that the 
process to verify eligibility are the 
subgrantee’s responsibility. 

36



  

Page | 9  

 

 Technology Neutrality and Scoring Changes (2025 Policy Notice Section 3) 

Perhaps the most impactful change is the elimination of the “fiber preference” and the reinforced focus 
on minimizing the cost of deployment under the BEAD Program. The 2025 Policy Notice requires that 
states “must select the combination of project proposals with the lowest overall cost to the Program.” 
(pg. 12) Therefore, while the lowest cost project is not required to be selected in every case, the mix of 
awarded projects must result in the lowest BEAD funding outlay for the Program. 

Even with this shift in focus, the IOB must demonstrate that every unserved and underserved BSL will 
receive BEAD-eligible service through the Program. To meet this requirement, the IOB must thoroughly 
review each application to determine if the project can be completed in the four-year time frame, meets 
the required performance standards and other gating criteria upon project closeout, and proposes a 
reasonable overall project cost and cost per BSL.  

The 2025 Policy Notice requires the following changes to the IOB’s Subgrantee Selection Process: 

1. Priority Broadband Project: The 2025 Policy Notice introduces a new definition of a Priority 
Broadband Project, based on performance standards rather than specific technology types. 
This new definition means that any network technology—fiber, cable, hybrid fiber/cable, fixed 
wireless, or LEO satellite—could be classified as a Priority Project if it can offer service within 10 
business days of a customer request and can reliably meet the following performance 
standards: 

o 100/20 Mbps 
o 100 ms latency 
o Easily scale speeds over time to meet:  

 evolving customer needs,  
 deployment of 5G,  
 deployment of successor wireless technologies, and  
 deployment of other advanced services 

o Provide “supporting documentation” sufficient for the State to assess whether the 
network application meets the standards 

When ranking and scoring project applications, the IOB will be required to award a Priority 
Project in almost all instances except where the Priority Project is proposing “excessive” BEAD-
funded costs. When determining whether a project must be scored as a Priority Project, the 
“scalability” requirement gives the IOB some discretion to design its subgrantee selection 
criteria to meet the needs of Idaho consumers. Some deployment configurations and 

37



  

Page | 10  

 

applications of ULFW and LEO technologies may struggle to properly demonstrate their ability 
to meet these BEAD performance standards on a consistent and long-term basis, including the 
upload speed requirement and the scalability requirement. It will be important for the IOB to 
have a consistent and clear set of documentation requirements to ensure each awarded Priority 
Project meets these standards.  

2. Nonpriority Broadband Project: The new definition of a Nonpriority Broadband Project is also 
based on performance standards and not deployment technology. If an applicant can only 
demonstrate that its deployment technology can meet the speed (100/20 Mbps) and latency 
(100 ms) requirements but cannot meet the scalability standards required for Priority Projects, 
the project would be considered a Nonpriority Project. Any deployment technology—fiber, 
cable, HFC, fixed wireless, and LEO—could be categorized as a Nonpriority Project.  

States may only choose these Nonpriority Projects if there are no proposals to serve the same 
area that meet the definition of a Priority Broadband project or if the competing Priority 
Broadband project has excessive costs, as determined by the IOB. 

As discussed above, because ULFW and LEO projects may not meet the scalability or upload 
requirements, these deployments are more likely to be classified as Nonpriority Projects and 
can only be considered in the absence of an eligible Priority Project. The 2025 Policy Notice 
anticipates the need for a negotiation process as well, but only in the absence of any eligible or 
viable Priority or Nonpriority project applications. 

3. Scoring Matrix: The 2025 Policy Notice outlines both Primary and Secondary Scoring Criteria. 
The only Primary Scoring Criteria under the updated 2025 Policy Notice is the “Minimal BEAD 
Program Outlay.” The IOB must score applications based on the project’s total BEAD funding 
request and the per-BSL cost. Only where there are multiple projects proposing to serve the 
same project area and those projects propose per-BSL costs within 15% of each other, will the 
IOB be required to also consider the Secondary Scoring Criteria, which only consist of criteria 
related to “Speed to Deployment” and “Speed of Network and other Technical Capabilities.”  

The changes to the scoring criteria necessitate significant adjustments to the current IOB 
scoring matrix and the points distribution assigned to scored applications. The IOB no longer 
needs to apply different scoring matrices for Priority and Nonpriority Projects. While the rules 
still require the IOB to distinguish between Priority and Nonpriority Projects, the same Primary 
and Secondary Scoring Criteria will apply to all proposed projects.  

38



  

Page | 11  

 

The following elements of the current scoring matrix will be revised or removed: 

o Affordability: Applicants will no longer be asked to provide their proposed pricing for all 
service plans offered over the funded network and will not be scored on any base rate 
threshold. 

o Fair Labor Practices: This element will now be reduced to a single gating criterion 
certification. The IOB previously collected this certification from Prequalified applicants.  

o Open Access Network: Applicants may still be encouraged to make parts of their network 
subject to open access obligations but will not be scored on their plans to do so. 

o Local and Tribal Coordination: Applicants will no longer be asked to provide letters of 
support from tribes or local governments and will not be scored on their outreach or 
coordination efforts. However, applicants must still provide information about projects on 
Tribal land, and the IOB must still require applicants to provide a Tribal Consent Resolution 
for proposed BEAD projects on Tribal land. 

o Equitable Workforce Development and Job Quality: This entire section is eliminated from 
the BEAD rules. 

 
4. Excessive Costs: The 2025 Policy Notice eliminates the requirement for the IOB to set an 

Extremely High Cost Per Location Threshold (EHCPLT). However, the 2025 Policy Notice also 
requires that the IOB’s Primary Scoring Criteria must be the BEAD outlay cost of each proposed 
project, and the rules give the IOB the discretion to reject an application if it determines that the 
project’s costs are “excessive.” NTIA has declined to provide guidance or examples of what it 
considers excessive cost, except to anecdotally identify projects with price tags of over 
$100,000 per BSL as excessive. 

The IOB must define and identify projects that propose excessive costs, resulting in inefficient 
and ineffective uses of BEAD funding and, consequently, impacting overall Program funding 
availability. The IOB must develop objective and consistent criteria to identify "excessive cost” 
that will likely continue to be judged relative to the costs proposed by all the applications 
received, similar to the previous EHCPLT analysis requirement. It is not required that the IOB 
award the lowest cost project in all instances, but it is required that the mix of awarded projects 
reflect the lowest overall cost to the Program. The 2025 Policy Notice gives the IOB discretion 
regarding how explicit, concrete, and transparent it will be when defining “excessive costs” and 
if this definition or criteria will be made available prior to the opening of the application window 
or only as part of the Final Proposal. 

39



  

Page | 12  

 

Treatment of Low Earth Orbit Satellite and Unlicensed Fixed Wireless 
Deployments 

The 2025 Policy Notice calls for states to implement a “technology neutral” set of scoring and gating 
criteria and has eliminated what NTIA considered to be a “rigid three-tier structure” for prioritizing 
technology. However, the 2025 Policy Notice also allows the IOB to implement “specialized technical 
requirements” to ensure that projects using ULFW and LEO can meet the minimum performance 
standards on a consistent and reliable basis.  

The IOB’s Subgrantee Selection Process was already an inclusive process that allowed ULFW and LEO 
applicants to submit proposed projects for funding simultaneously with all other applicants and 
technology types. The 2025 Policy Notice requires the IOB to add additional questions and 
documentation requirements for these providers to fully participate in the Program on an equal playing 
field with the other technologies. These additions include:  

• LEO applicants will be required to demonstrate their ability to reserve capacity over a 10-year 
period of performance and to “turn up” a customer in its BEAD-funded service area within ten 
days of the customer’s request. The IOB will reimburse LEO subgrantees over this 10-year 
period as it meets take-rate milestones or pursuant to other IOB directions. 

• LEOs are required to provide customer premises equipment and installation at no cost to 
support the affordability of these services for Idaho customers at each BSL for up to three times 
during the period of performance. 

• As discussed above, LEO and ULFW proposed projects will be subject to the same minimum 
performance standards as other technology projects, including the 20 Mbps upload standard 
and scalability capabilities. This may prove challenging for many of these providers.  

• As part of the application process, ULFW applicants must also submit evidence of the capacity 
of the proposed network to meet customer usage demands and how its network design will 
address potential interference by other users of the unlicensed spectrum. These evidence 
requirements can be similar to the ULFW challenge process discussed below. 

Project Area and BSL Exclusion Process Changes 

The 2025 Policy Notice does not require the IOB to make significant changes to its framework and 
approach toward application project area design. The IOB may continue to require applicants to use the 
Idaho Application Project Area Map (version 4.0 coming soon) to design proposed project areas and to 
combine Application Project Areas (APAs) to constitute a proposed application, project area and 
buildout.  

40



Page | 13 

However, unlike the prior BEAD framework, the new rules require that states allow applicants to 
“propose to exclude select broadband serviceable locations that the applicant determines are 
excessively high-cost locations from the project area (or would otherwise make the project 
economically unviable….) (pg. 11).” The IOB’s current approach mirrors this new NTIA requirement by 
allowing applicants to designate BSLs in each APA in the project area as “prefer not to serve.” Under the 
current IOB framework, applicants may only designate up to 5% of the BSLs in any single APA as such, 
and applicants are required to support these requests with an explanation and evidence of high cost or 
other barriers to serving these BSLs. BSL exclusion requests related to NTIA Reason Codes 1-5 will not 
count towards the 5% cap. The applicant’s request is subject to IOB review and approval and may be 
denied, thus requiring the applicant to serve all BSLs in the application project area.  

The 2025 Policy Notice only provides high-level direction to states regarding the BSL exclusion process. 
The 2025 Policy Notice does not further specify any cap restrictions on the number of BSLs that 
applicants may request to exclude. The IOB will analyze the impact of the applicant’s exclusion request 
on its overall goals to serve all unserved and underserved BSLs in the State. While the 2025 Policy 
Notice language appears to grant the IOB discretion to generally maintain its current BSL exclusion 
process and framework, further guidance is likely to be forthcoming from NTIA, and the IOB will make 
updates accordingly.  

When considering the IOB’s current framework in the context of the NTIA’s overall shift in focus away 
from high-cost projects, it may be prudent to update the IOB’s BSL “prefer-not-to-serve” element of the 
application in ways that further encourage projects in high-cost areas. Further instructions to applicants 
will be provided in the application questions and guide. 

GIS Mapping Updates and Timing (2025 Policy Notice 
Section 4) 

Update the map and eligible locations (NTIA Reason Code 3) 

The new NTIA guidelines request the removal of any locations from a state’s BSL eligibility list that were 
removed in FCC Fabric Version 6 due to NTIA Reason Code 3. Some locations could have been removed 
as an eligible BSL from Version 3/4 to Version 6, and NTIA requests that this update be made.  

Update the map and eligible locations to comply with enforceable commitments 
(NTIA Reason Code 4, NTIA updated list) 

Under the existing rules in the BEAD NOFO and per the 2025 Policy Notice, any locations already served 
by an enforceable commitment (NTIA Reason Code 4) must be removed from a state’s list of eligible 
BEAD locations. The 2025 Policy Notice also requires states to update their list of eligible BSLs by 
adding locations that NTIA has identified as newly eligible locations due to a default of a federal 

41



Page | 14 

enforceable commitment. NTIA supplied a list of newly eligible locations via default, and states must 
confirm that another enforceable commitment or private investment does not serve these locations or 
other locations. Additionally, states must verify whether these new locations are unserved or 
underserved before adding them to the eligibility list.  

In Idaho there was a recent Rural Digital Opportunity Fund (RDOF) default by Lumen/CentryLink.  This 
resulted in the addition of BSLs to the BEAD eligibility list. There will also be some BSL modifications 
made per enforceable commitments under a couple Capital Projects Fund (CPF) projects as well as 
impacts from the ULFW evidence/challenge process.  

Conduct a ULFW challenge process and update the map with BSLs that are 
served by ULFW where necessary. 

A high-level view of the requirements and instructions for ULFW providers to demonstrate that they 
currently serve BEAD-eligible locations includes: 

• Instructions: Providers must submit evidence by a specified deadline, demonstrating their 
network's ability to deliver 100 Mbps download and 20 Mbps upload speeds reliably. This 
includes providing signal strength data, coverage maps, and performance test results. Providers
must also detail their strategies for managing potential interference.

• General Information: Providers need to submit various details, including entity name, contact 
information, frequency bands used, technology deployed, and a network capability overview.

• Coverage Area: Providers must list BEAD BSL IDs and provide propagation maps showing signal 
strength and coverage area polygons in shapefile format.

• Network Capability: Providers must include a narrative describing the ability of the network to 
meet capacity requirements of at least 5 Mbps per BSL concurrently, base station and back 
haul capacity, scalability to meet future network demands, and plans to adhere to the 
manufacturer’s best practices.

• Data Reporting on Capacity: Data reporting on base station capacity and backhaul capacity 
for each tower or vertical structure, including loss, noise, and technology.

• Signal Strength and Performance Testing: A methodology for performance testing, including 
random sampling, testing times, and compliance with requirements based generally on the 
Draft BEAD Performance Measures1 and other industry standard testing methodologies.

• Reliability: Providers must provide the number of minutes each base station at each tower has 
been out of service to demonstrate an expected average annual outage time of no more than 48 
hours, equating to approximately 99.5% uptime, excluding natural disasters.

• Interference Mitigation Strategies: Providers must describe their plans to manage potential 
interference issues with other users of the spectrum.

1 https://www.ntia.gov/sites/default/files/2024-12/draft_performance_measures_for_bead_last-
mile_networks_policy_notice.pdf  

42

https://www.ntia.gov/sites/default/files/2024-12/draft_performance_measures_for_bead_last-mile_networks_policy_notice.pdf
https://www.ntia.gov/sites/default/files/2024-12/draft_performance_measures_for_bead_last-mile_networks_policy_notice.pdf


Page | 15 

• Post BEAD Buildout: Applicants for BEAD funding proposing to deploy fixed wireless 
technology must meet several criteria to ensure compliance with BEAD Program rules and 
performance requirements.

Update the list of Community Anchor Institutions to follow the statutory 
definition. 

The 2025 Policy Notice requires updating Community Anchor Institutions (CAIs) to follow the statutory 
definition of a CAI. A high-level review of Idaho’s current CAI list did not identify any CAIs that needed to 
be removed; however, a more thorough review is planned. The prior rules that require service to CAIs on 
the BEAD-funded network to be capable of 1 gigabit per second symmetrical speeds remains in place. 

Possible updates to the map based on “non-serviceable BSLs” (NTIA Reason 
Codes 1 and 2). 

The 2025 Policy Notice says that the “NTIA will validate that these reason codes have been exercised 
when reviewing Final Proposals,” and that “…Eligible Entities must certify in the Final Proposal that 
none of the BEAD-funded BSLs should be classified under Reason Code 1 or Reason Code 2.” (pg. 13)

Aligning BSLs to the FCC’s BSL Fabric Version 6 will remove locations that fall under Reason Code 1, 
which are non-serviceable locations (i.e., barn, hay bale, or rock), or Reason Code 2, which are 
locations that do not need mass-market broadband service due to the nature of internet use (i.e., the 
entity located at the BSL requires enterprise service). Additional updates to the status of eligible BSLs 
that may fall under these reason codes will occur during the Subgrantee Selection Process and will be 
noted in the State’s Final Proposal. 

43



June 24, 2025 

1: FINAL 
 

 

 

 

 

Unlicensed Fixed Wireless - Evidence Required for 
Service Claims for the Idaho BEAD Program  

Background 
On June 6, 2025, the National Telecommunications and Information Administration (NTIA) released 
its BEAD Restructuring Policy Notice,1 introducing significant updates to the Broadband Equity, 
Access, and Deployment (BEAD) Program. Among the most impactful changes is NTIA’s decision to 
permit providers using Unlicensed Fixed Wireless (ULFW) (FCC Tech Code 70) to participate in 
BEAD funding opportunities—provided they meet newly defined technical criteria.  

In addition, ULFW providers may submit evidence to support a claim that designated BEAD-eligible 
locations that they currently serve meet the technical specifications defined in Appendix A of the 
BEAD Restructuring Policy Notice. If the evidence is sufficient, these locations will be designated as 
ineligible for BEAD funding. 

Instructions 
1. ULFW providers that intend to claim they offer service meeting BEAD-level requirements to 

Broadband Serviceable Locations (BSLs) currently listed as underserved or unserved must 
first notify the Idaho Office of Broadband (IOB) of their intention to submit these claims with 
supporting evidence. ULFW providers have seven days from the date of this notice (June 
17-June 24, 2025) to notify IOB of their intention. 

A ULFW provider must notify IOB of its intention to submit evidence by accessing and 
completing required fields in the Intent to Submit Evidence form. All ULFW providers’ 
responses to the survey will serve as the IOB’s official list of ULFW providers that intend to 
submit service evidence. No other method of notification will be accepted. 

The deadline for ULFW providers to register their intention to submit evidence is June 
24, 2025, at 5:00 p.m. MT. 

2. Following the June 24, 2025, deadline, a ULFW provider that has notified IOB of their 
intention to submit evidence refuting the BEAD-eligible locations within its service area, will 
receive instructions via email from the IOB on how to submit all required evidence 
demonstrating that their network can deliver 100 Mbps download and 20 Mbps upload 
speeds reliably. This includes signal strength data, coverage maps, and performance test 

 
1 https://www.ntia.gov/sites/default/files/2025-06/bead-restructuring-policy-notice.pdf 

44

https://survey123.arcgis.com/share/05c21dc6ee914120a03e5f0e74c23a09
https://www.ntia.gov/sites/default/files/2025-06/bead-restructuring-policy-notice.pdf


June 24, 2025 

2: FINAL 
 

results. Providers must also detail their strategies to manage potential interference with 
other users of the same spectrum band. Evidence details are included below. 2  
 

3. Confidentiality Designation Requirement 
Business records and information provided to the Idaho Department of Commerce 
(“Commerce”) are subject to public disclosure under the Idaho Public Records Law 
(Title 74, Chapter 1, Idaho Code), and Idaho Code Section 67-4708, unless specifically 
exempt from public disclosure. Commerce shall consider any records or information 
exempt from public disclosure as confidential (“Confidential Information”). ULFW 
providers submitting evidence must declare and identify each individual document 
considered confidential and exempt from public disclosure. ULFW providers must mark 
each page of all such documents as “confidential – proprietary information.” Commerce 
will not accept a legend or statement on one (1) page that all, or substantially all, of a 
document is exempt from disclosure. 

The deadline for ULFW providers to submit evidence is July 1, 2025 @ 5:00 pm MT. 

Required Evidence 

1. General Information 
Provide the following general information: 

• Entity Name: Entity name and/or doing-business-as name(s) associated with the entity 
• Holding Company/Common Control Name: The parent company name or other name used 

to associate all commonly owned or commonly controlled entities, if applicable 
• Contact Email and Phone Number 
• ULFW Frequency Band(s) 

 
2 It is recommended that ULFW providers follow the FCC guidelines that apply in the Broadband Data 
Collection - Data Specifications for Biannual Submission of Subscription, Availability, and Supporting Data  

 

45

https://legislature.idaho.gov/statutesrules/idstat/Title74/T74CH1/
https://us-fcc.app.box.com/v/bdc-availability-spec
https://us-fcc.app.box.com/v/bdc-availability-spec


June 24, 2025 

3: FINAL 
 

• FCC Technology Code: 70, 71, or 72 (see chart below). 

 

2. Broadband Serviceable Locations  
Select broadband serviceable locations (BSLs) to submit for service claim consideration using the 
functionality in the Idaho BEAD Restructuring Dashboard. 

Provide a propagation map(s) showing signal strength (as geospatial data) from each tower or 
vertical structure that services BSLs for service claim consideration in a shapefile format. Label 
each tower or vertical structure with a unique identifier. 

3. Network Capability Overview 
Provide a narrative describing the ability of the network to serve the selected BSLs to meet the 
following criteria: 

• At least 5 Mbps per BSL concurrently, scaled to meet or exceed 100/20 Mbps 
• Base stations have enough capacity to maintain performance during high demand 
• Backhaul links can support aggregate traffic from all connected BSLs 
• Network can scale speeds over time to meet the evolving connectivity needs of households 

and businesses 
• Network can support the deployment of 5G, successor wireless technologies and other 

advanced services  
• Adherence with network equipment manufacturer best practices or guidance regarding 

items such as: 
o Capacity/loading of base station radios with respect to number of, and 

provisioned bandwidth of, subscribers  
o Minimum signal strength necessary to meet speed and latency requirements 
o Backhaul requirements for base station deployments 

Terrestrial fixed wireless technology codes from the Broadband Data Collection - Data Specifications for Biannual 
Submission of Subscription, Availability, and Supporting Data, Section 4.1.1. 

46

https://experience.arcgis.com/experience/870338bf27d946da807459bf2ef628e5/
https://us-fcc.app.box.com/v/bdc-availability-spec
https://us-fcc.app.box.com/v/bdc-availability-spec


June 24, 2025 

4: FINAL 
 

4. Towers 
Provide the following for each tower (or vertical structure) that serves the BSLs submitted for 
consideration: 

• Tower ID: Unique identifier of tower or vertical structure 
• Location: Physical address of the tower/vertical structure or latitude/longitude 
• Number of Existing Subscribers: Number of subscribers served by the tower or vertical 

structure 
• Number of Sectors: Number of sectors served in the area (if applicable) 
• Total Possible BSLs: Total number of BSLs that can be served from the tower or vertical 

structure location 
• Clutter Category Description: FCC category description for clutter based on the defined 

Clutter Codes from 0-193 

5. Technology  
Identify the existing technology (e.g., LTE/4G, 5G NR, Tarana Wireless Air Interface Protocol, Ubiquiti 
AirMAX/LTU) used by each base station at each tower or vertical structure. 

6. Base Station Capacity  
Provide capacity information for each base station at each tower or vertical structure location.  

• Tower ID: Unique identifier of tower or vertical structure  
• Base Station ID: Unique identifier of each base station at each tower/vertical structure 
• Number of Existing Subscribers: Number of existing subscribers served from the base 

station  
• Number of Radios: Number of radios 
• Provisioned Bandwidth per Subscriber: Guaranteed minimum amount of bandwidth 

allocated to each subscriber 
• Space Available: Number of rack units available in the cell site equipment shelter for future 

equipment  

7. Signal Strength 
Provide the following for validation that signal levels meet minimum thresholds for speed and 
latency. Tests must be run within 30 days of claim submittal. 

• Base Station ID: Unique identifier of each base station at each tower or vertical structure  
• Radio ID: Unique identifier of each radio at the tower/vertical structure site 
• Transmitter Power: The power output of the wireless transmitter (value must be greater 

than 0dBm) 

 
3 https://www.fcc.gov/sites/default/files/how%20to%20format%20your%20clutter%20data.pdf  

47

https://www.fcc.gov/sites/default/files/how%20to%20format%20your%20clutter%20data.pdf


June 24, 2025 

5: FINAL 
 

• Antenna Gain: The effectiveness of both the transmitting and receiving antennas in 
directing and capturing the radio signal (value must be greater than or equal to -20 dBi and 
less than or equal to 40 dBi) 

• Path Loss: The signal weakening due to distance and obstacles in the propagation path 
(value must be greater than or equal to 0 dB and less than or equal to 10 dB) 

• Cable Loss: Loss due to cabling, connectors, and other hardware in dB 
• Noise: Total noise from thermal and receiver noise (value must be less than 0 dBm) 
• Receiver Sensitivity: The minimum signal strength the receiver needs to successfully 

decode the data (Value must be less than 0 dBm) 
• Date Tested 

8. Backhaul  
Provide the following information about the backhaul to each tower or vertical structure. 

• Tower ID: Unique identifier of tower or vertical structure  
• Base Station ID: Unique identifier of each base station at each tower or vertical structure 
• Backhaul Type: Method of backhaul delivery used to connect a base station (e.g., fiber, 

licensed microwave, unlicensed wireless links) 
• Backhaul Speed: Speed of backhaul type  

9. Performance Testing  
Conduct performance testing4, submit test results, and provide the test methodology of the Speed 
Test Results and Latency Test Results in the ULFW Service Claim Evidence Template according to 
the following process. Details about each field in the Test Results can be found in the Performance 
Test Results Data tab in the ULFW Service Claim Evidence Template. 

• Randomly select locations from among active subscribers at each tower or vertical 
structure location. The sample size to be tested is 5 BSLs served by the tower/vertical 
structure with less than 50 active subscribers, and at least 10% of the BSLs being served by 
tower/vertical structure serving 51 or greater subscribers. 

• Conduct speed and latency tests for each location. 
• Performance tests (speed and latency) shall be conducted, at a minimum, once per hour 

from 6:00 PM to 12:00 AM for a minimum total of six passing tests per location. See Draft 
Performance Measures for BEAD Last-Mile Networks Policy Notice for details on how to 
conduct the tests. If the test packets cannot get through due to subscriber usage, you may 
run the tests between 12:00 AM and 6:00 AM—both sets of test results (6:00 PM to 12:00 AM 

 
4 The required performance testing aligns with the requirements in the Draft Performance Measures for BEAD 
Last-Mile Networks Policy Notice with modifications due to the time constraints of the claim process.  
https://www.ntia.gov/sites/default/files/2024-12/draft_performance_measures_for_bead_last-
mile_networks_policy_notice.pdf 

 

48

https://www.ntia.gov/sites/default/files/2024-12/draft_performance_measures_for_bead_last-mile_networks_policy_notice.pdf
https://www.ntia.gov/sites/default/files/2024-12/draft_performance_measures_for_bead_last-mile_networks_policy_notice.pdf


June 24, 2025 

6: FINAL 
 

and 12:00 AM to 6:00 AM) must be submitted. It is therefore encouraged to run the tests as 
soon as possible to allow for any necessary additional testing. 

• Tests shall be conducted from the premises of the selected active subscribers to a remote 
test server located at, or reached by passing through, an FCC-designated Internet exchange 
point (IXP), which is any building, facility, or location housing a public Internet gateway that 
has an active interface to a qualifying Internet Autonomous System (ASN) as defined in the 
Draft Performance Measures for BEAD Last-Mile Networks Policy Notice. 

• Testing date, methodology, and test results shall be recorded using the Performance Test 
Results Template and Latency Test Results Template. At least 80 percent of the test 
results must be at a minimum of 80 percent of 100/20 Mbps for download and upload. A 
latency measurement under 100 milliseconds must be provided for each hour of testing.  

The methodology found in the Draft Performance Measures for BEAD Last-Mile Networks Policy 
Notice, Section 3.6 explains how performance metrics are collected through active 
measurements—using software or devices that send test traffic to edge servers—rather than 
traditional network management systems. Providers may use TR-069/TR-369 protocols, built-in 
capabilities of customer premises equipment (CPE), or dedicated hardware. Software-based tests 
using provider-supplied CPE do not require subscriber consent, while hardware installations do, 
though incentives may be offered. 

10. Reliability/Downtime  
Provide the number of minutes each base station at each tower or vertical structure has been out of 
service in the last 180 days. Reference the Draft Performance Measures for BEAD Last-Mile 
Networks Policy Notice for the expected average annual outage time for a reliable network and 
other reliability information.  

11. Interference Mitigation Strategies 
Provide a narrative of your interference mitigation strategy plans to manage potential interference 
issues with other users of the unlicensed or licensed-by-rule spectrum. This may include some or 
all of the following: 

1. Beam Forming and/or Beam Nulling 
Use directional antennas at both base stations and subscriber units to reduce interference. 

2. Dynamic Management 
Employ software or hardware-based solutions to dynamically manage interference that 
may arise. 

3. Advanced Non-Line-of-Sight (NLOS) Capabilities 
Network is designed to maintain performance even in obstructed environments. 

4. Reserved Base Station Capacity 
Allocate extra capacity to handle peak interference periods. 

49

https://www.ntia.gov/sites/default/files/2024-12/draft_performance_measures_for_bead_last-mile_networks_policy_notice.pdf
https://www.ntia.gov/sites/default/files/2024-12/draft_performance_measures_for_bead_last-mile_networks_policy_notice.pdf


June 24, 2025 

7: FINAL 
 

5. Conservative Link Budgets 
Design links with margins to account for interference and congestion. 

6. Adherence to Manufacturer Best Practices 
Follow vendor guidelines for optimal signal strength, antenna placement, and interference 
thresholds. 

  

50


	June Cover
	IBAB Meeting Agenda (6.30.25)
	051425 IBAB Minutes for approval
	June 6 bead-restructuring-policy-notice
	1. Background and Purpose
	2. Elimination of Regulatory Burdens
	3.    Technology Neutrality
	3.1 Priority Broadband Projects
	3.2 Technologies Eligible for Participation
	3.3 The Benefit of the Bargain Round (Subgrantee Selection)
	3.4 Scoring Rubrics

	4. Optimizing BEAD Locations
	5. Non-Deployment Funding
	6. Permitting
	7. Alignment with Prior Guidance
	8. Modification of Initial and Final Proposals
	Appendix A: Unlicensed Fixed Wireless Service Requirements
	Appendix B: Low Earth Orbit Capacity Subgrants
	Appendix C: Period of Performance for LEO Capacity Subgrants and Federal Interest Period for Broadband Infrastructure Grants
	Appendix D: Initial Proposal Correction Template

	White Paper_Restructuring Policy Notice_Final_6.26.25
	Introduction
	Idaho BEAD Application
	Initial Proposal and Application Question Updates
	Elements of the IOB Subgrantee Selection Process that remain in place
	Elements of the IOB Subgrantee Selection Process that will change (2025 Policy Notice, Section 2)
	Technology Neutrality and Scoring Changes (2025 Policy Notice Section 3)
	Treatment of Low Earth Orbit Satellite and Unlicensed Fixed Wireless Deployments
	Project Area and BSL Exclusion Process Changes

	GIS and Mapping Updates and Timing (2025 Policy Notice Section 4)
	Update the map and eligible locations (NTIA Reason Code 3)
	Update the map and eligible locations to comply with enforceable commitments (NTIA Reason Code 4, NTIA updated list)
	Conduct a ULFW challenge process and update the map with BSLs that are served by ULFW where necessary.
	Update the list of Community Anchor Institutions to follow the statutory definition.
	Possible updates to the map based on “non-serviceable BSLs” (NTIA Reason Codes 1 and 2).


	ULFW Service Claims Evidence Guidance ID_FINAL_06.24.2025
	Unlicensed Fixed Wireless - Evidence Required for Service Claims for the Idaho BEAD Program
	Background
	Instructions
	Required Evidence
	1. General Information
	2. Broadband Serviceable Locations
	3. Network Capability Overview
	4. Towers
	5. Technology
	6. Base Station Capacity
	7. Signal Strength
	8. Backhaul
	9. Performance Testing
	10. Reliability/Downtime
	11. Interference Mitigation Strategies



	Scoring Matrix_Final



